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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2022 2021
Results HK$ Million HK$ Million

Revenue 3,668 3,249

Profit before depreciation, amortisation, interest and tax 484 535
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 275 314 m
>
Basic earnings per share HK51.5 cents HK58.9 cents e
m
Dividend per share %
— Interim HK22 cents HK30 cents %
— Final HK14 cents HK12 cents =
2
=
2022 2021 %
Financial Position HK$ Million HK$ Million i—
o
Total assets 3,125 2,573 =
=
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 649 428 @
. . =
Shareholders’ equity 1,674 1,513 =
O
Net assets per share attributable to owners of the Company HK$3.14 HK$2.84 =
b
‘ 11 ‘ [ ‘ [ ‘ [ %
%)
—— — A =
REVENUE PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE af
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY &
aj

- 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 N 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

" HK$ MILLION:"

' 13,668 . :

" HKS$ MILLION:
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. CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

For The Financial Year Ended
31 March 2022

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the
annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the financial year ended
31 March 2022.

During the year under review, with the growth in the
momentum of the heightened awareness for healthy
life and sports and exercises of the consumers, the

——y
=y

global enthusiasm in athleisure wear was driving the
demand for sportswear. At the same time, leading
sportswear brands aligned themselves with the
“direct to consumers” business model by actively
launching dazzling online marketing initiatives and
optimising advanced intelligent logistics systems to
meet the strong demand for sportswear in the
international market.




In 2021, the epidemic situation in the PRC was
relatively stable and the nation rejoiced as Beijing
hosted the 2022 Winter Olympics. Coupled with the
promotion of participation in sports by the nation
resulting in overwhelming sporting sensation, there
was notable growth in the sportswear market. The
Group seized this opportunity to increase the
proportion of domestic sales in the PRC. The Group's
strategy of driving domestic production and sales has

not only significantly enhanced the Group’s
adaptability to market and competitiveness and
effectively reduced logistical costs and turnaround
time; it has also reduced the consumption of natural
and social resources, contributing to the sustainable
development of the environment.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

The Group focused on advancing the strategy of “production base diversification”, leveraging on its local
advantage and at the same time enhancing its ability to manage and address risks. During the year under
review, the Government of Vietnam implemented stringent epidemic control policies of citywide lockdown,
production at the Group's factory in Vietnam was as a result temporarily suspended during the period from
mid-July 2021 to early October 2021. The management took immediate and agile actions to coordinate and
flexibly reallocate the purchase orders to the Group’'s other production bases, in effective response to the
rigorous challenge the Group faced at times of adversity highlighting the Group’s excellent leadership.

Looking ahead to the coming year, the Group will devote its effort in the following areas:

I. CAPACITY EXPANSION

In recent years, the Group has been seeking opportunities to acquire production plants with strong
production capacity and proven quality to meet the increasing demands of customers of international
sportswear brands. The PRC, Indonesia and Vietnam each offers different resources and strengths. During
the year under review, the Group acquired one factory in each of the PRC and Indonesia, which had been
engaged in sportswear manufacturing for many years. The Group believes that through the combined
effect of external acquisitions and internal growth, the Group can enhance its overall production capacity
in a more efficient manner and optimise diverse deployment of its production bases to form a solid
foundation for future growth.



Chairman’s Statement (continued)

II. MANUFACTURING EXCELLENCE

The Group is committed to making continuous progress and advancement in adherence to the principle of
manufacturing excellence and constant quality enhancement. During the year, smart automated warehouse
management system was introduced in line with the new trend of real-time tracking, production
mechanisation and modernisation and efficiency maximisation. With the optimisation and upgrade of its
information management system, the Group would be able to establish a solid foundation for future
growth by forming a close connection among its production bases located in different countries to
enhance their operation synergy and efficiency as well as the Group's international competitiveness.

lll. R&D INNOVATION

The driving force for the future lies in research & development innovation. The Group will continue to
invest in and step up with the development of the Research & Development Centre located in Hong Kong
headquarters, seeking market development in collaboration with international brands through high-end
visualised product design and innovative production processes in a bid to lead the trends in design. In the
era of burning enthusiasm for sports, the Group will utilise its strengths to create growth momentum in
the future.

OUTLOOK

Under the epidemic, the pace of global economic recovery has slowed down. In the coming year, the Group
will adopt a prudent development strategy to attain stable growth in business, with a special emphasis on the
integration of recently-acquired factories, consolidation of existing businesses and gradual expansion of
overseas production capacities. At the same time, production mechanisation and innovative production
technologies will be actively promoted, while sustainable development will be enhanced with persistent efforts.
The Group will provide customers with prospective production technologies that are in close tandem with the
changing market in an effort to explore new pathways for future growth.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express sincere gratitude to my fellow members of the Board and all
staff for their contributions during the year, and to the Shareholders, business partners and customers for their
longstanding support and trust for the Group. The Group will continue to maintain a high dividend payout ratio
to reward the Shareholders, as well as deliver value for the community, the Shareholders, customers and other
stakeholders. Amidst opportunities as well as challenges, we will forge ahead with all colleagues towards a
better and mutually beneficial future!

Chung Yuk Sing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2022

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3

2202 140d3d TVNNNY

£

Rl
il
i




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GEOGRAPHICAL REVENUE DISTRIBUTION
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Performance

During the year under review, the global economy continued to be affected by COVID-19, with the impact of
different countries varied depending on the anti-pandemic policies adopted by each of them. Vietnam adopted
stringent anti-pandemic measures in the third quarter of 2021 in response to critical pandemic conditions,
resulting in the suspension of major economic activities. The PRC adhered to a “Zero-COVID" policy
underpinned by rigorous quarantine and lockdown measures. As the PRC and Vietnam were major production
bases for garment manufacturers, manufacturers have been inevitably affected by the stringent anti-pandemic
measures in these countries during the year. On the other hand, advanced countries generally pursued a policy
of coexistence with the virus so that economic activities gradually resumed with rising demand for consumer
products.

The Group reported record-high total sales of HK$3,668.4 million for the year, representing an increase of
HK$419.5 million or 12.9% as compared to total sales of HK$3,248.9 million for last year. Gross profit for the
year decreased by 0.3% to HK$650.2 million (2021: HK$652.4 million), while gross profit margin declined by
2.4% from 20.1% to 17.7%. The Group’s profit before tax for the year decreased by 13.8% to HK$363.9 million
(2021: HK$422.4 million), while pre-tax profit margin decreased by 3.1% from 13.0% to 9.9%.

The Group achieved record-high sales for the year despite the impact of the pandemic on its production
capacity, attributable to its longstanding effort in building production bases in different countries to hedge
against political and economic risks, fully leveraging the unigue advantages of each of the production bases in
the PRC, Indonesia and Vietnam in terms of geographic location, government policy and production technology
to facilitate flexible allocation of production orders. Notwithstanding the growth in its sales, the Group's profit
for the year was eroded by substantial increase in production costs. The substantial increase in production
costs was attributable to the increment of minimum wage level and labour wage. Besides, operations at the
Group's production base in Vietnam were temporarily suspended during the period from mid-July 2021 to early
October 2021 in compliance with anti-pandemic measures adopted by the Government in Vietnam against
COVID-19. During the year, the PRC government no longer provided various relief measures introduced in 2020
because of pandemic. In addition, following the completion of the acquisitions of the production bases in
Bandung Regency, Indonesia and in Foshan City, the PRC (the "Acquisitions”), increase in production and
operating costs resulted from the changes of customer structure and product styles as well as additional
depreciation arising from newly purchased machineries and equipment.

During the year, the selling and distribution expenses increased by HK$4.6 million or 17.7% in line with the
increase in sales of HK$419.5 million or 12.9%. The increase in selling and distribution expenses was also
attributable to the rise in transportation costs owing to disruption in transport caused by the pandemic.
Administrative expenses increased by HK$32.7 million or 13.7%, owing mainly to the increase in staff salaries
after annual adjustments and the hiring of additional staff to cope with business growth and enhance the
Group's product design and development function. Finance costs for the year slightly decreased by HK$0.2
million or 3.8% as during the year, the Group flexibly deployed working capital and interest rates of bank
borrowing remained stable. As for taxation, the Group’s overall tax expenses for the year decreased by
HK$14.3 million or 14.9%. The effective tax rate of 22.4% for the year was similar to that of 22.6% for last
year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Other income and gains amounted to HK$20.5 million (2021: HK$39.7 million), comprising mainly incentive or
subsidies granted by the PRC and/or Hong Kong governments amounting to HK$12.3 million (2021: HK$32.2
million) and bank interest income of HK$3.4 million (2021: HK$2.9 million).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$274.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2022,
representing a decrease of HK$39.0 million or 12.4% compared to HK$313.6 million for last year. Net profit
margin attributable to owners of the Company decreased by 2.2% from 9.7% to 7.5%. Excluding other income
and gains of the year amounting to HK$20.5 million (2021: HK$39.7 million), net operating profit attributable to
owners of the Company would decrease by HK$19.7 million or 7.2% to HK$254.1 million (2021: HK$273.9
million) and net operating profit margin attributable to owners of the Company would decrease by 1.5% from
8.4% to 6.9%. Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company for the year amounted to
HK51.5 cents compared to HK58.9 cents for the previous year. The Board proposed to recommend payment of
a final dividend of HK14 cents (2021: HK12 cents) per share. Together with the interim dividend of HK22 cents
per share paid during the year, the dividend payout ratio for the year was 69.9% (2021: 71.3%).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the year under review, the Group continued to maintain a healthy liquidity position. The Group generally
finances its operations with internally generated resources and banking facilities. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group had cash and bank balances amounted to HK$455.8 million (31 March 2021: HK$442.4 million) mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi (“RMB"), US dollars, Indonesian Rupiah and Vietnamese Dong.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's banking facilities of HK$990.0 million (2021: HK$975.9 million) were
supported by the corporate guarantees of HK$990.0 million (2021: HK$975.9 million) executed by the Company
and certain subsidiaries of the Company. As at 31 March 2022, an aggregate amount of the Group's banking
facilities of HK$648.6 million (31 March 2021: HK$428.4 million) was utilised.

The management believes that the Group’s existing financial resources will be sufficient to meet its existing
operations as well as existing and future expansion plans and, if necessary, the Group will be able to obtain
additional financing with favourable terms. There is no material effect of seasonality on the Group’s borrowing
requirements.

Gearing ratio of the Group is defined as the net debt (represented by bank borrowings net of cash and bank
balances) divided by the total equity. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2022 was 11.2% (31 March
2021: not applicable as the Group had a net cash position in 2021).

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Group has transactional currency exposures as substantial portion of sales or purchases are denominated in
US dollars and RMB. As such, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from such exposure to US
dollars and RMB. Although the Group has strived to maintain the balance of its sales and purchases in the
same currency, as the foreign currency risks generated from the sales and purchases can only be partially set
off with each other, financial instrument may be employed when necessary to manage the Group’s exposure to
the potential foreign exchange risk.

The Group will continue to monitor its foreign exchange exposures and use appropriate tools to manage and
minimise its foreign exchange risk.



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Material Acquisitions and Disposal
During the year under review, the Group had undertaken the following acquisitions:

(a) The Indonesia Acquisition

On 3 November 2021, the Group entered into the Conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement with Mr. Ade
Tjakralaksana and Ms. Elna Raymon (the “Vendors”), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to
purchase and take the ownership of, and the Vendors conditionally agreed to sell and transfer, the entire
issued and paid-up share capital of PT Gelindo Garmentama (the “Indonesia Target Company”) at an initial
consideration of US$1,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,775,000), subject to adjustments based
on the equity value of the Indonesia Target Company as shown in the completion account (the “Indonesia
Acquisition”). In addition, the Group shall inject an aggregate amount of US$5,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$39,251,000) to the bank account of the Indonesia Target Company not later than 4
business days prior to the completion of the Indonesia Acquisition for the Group’s subscription of new
shares to be issued by the Indonesia Target Company after completion of the Indonesia Acquisition.

The Indonesia Acquisition did not constitute notifiable transaction for the Company under Chapter 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). Completion of the Indonesia Acquisition took place on 6 December 2021.

Please refer to the three announcements of the Company dated 3 November 2021, 18 November 2021
and 6 December 2021, respectively, for further details of the Indonesia Acquisition.

(b) The Shunde Acquisition

On 26 January 2022, BFIXSABZHRAE (Macau Yonghong Trading Company Limited) (“Macau
Yonghong"), Mr. Huang Yongbiao, an executive director of the Company, as the guarantor and the Group,
entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement (the “Shunde Acquisition”), pursuant to which Macau
Yonghong conditionally agreed to sell, and the Group conditionally agreed to purchase, the entire equity
interests of BEHEH B KB R /A F (Guangdong Dalian Garment Company Limited) (“Dalian Garment") for
the initial consideration of RMB59.4 million (equivalent to approximately HK$72.9 million), subject to
adjustments.

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3

The Shunde Acquisition did not constitute a notifiable transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules
but constituted a connected transaction for the Company subject to announcement and reporting
requirements only but exempt from independent Shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Completion of the Shunde Acquisition took place on 1 March 2022.
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Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26 January 2022 for further details of the
Shunde Acquisition.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no acquisition or disposal of subsidiary during the year ended 31 March
2022.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Capital Commitments
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the year under review:

As at As at

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000

Contracted, but not provided for:
Renovation of factories and purchases of items of machinery and
equipment for the production base in:

— Shantou 37,606 9,054
— Hubei 33,062 1,790
— Indonesia 12,720 194
— Vietnam 5,137 1,295
— Other locations 2,490 1,032

91,015 13,365

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's banking facilities of HK$990.0 million (2021: HK$975.9 million) were
supported by the corporate guarantees of HK$990.0 million (2021: HK$975.9 million) executed by the Company
and certain subsidiaries of the Company. As at 31 March 2022, an aggregate amount of the Group's banking
facilities of HK$648.6 million (31 March 2021: HK$428.4 million) was utilised.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed a total of approximately 15,000 employees including directors
(31 March 2021: approximately 13,000). Total employee benefit expenses including directors’ and chief
executive's emoluments were HK$1,005.1 million for the year under review (2021: HK$836.1 million).

The employees including directors are remunerated based on their work performance, professional experiences
and the prevailing industry practice. The Group also makes contributions to the statutory mandatory provident
fund scheme and defined contribution retirement benefits scheme for the employees of the Group in Hong
Kong and to the pension scheme for the employees of the Group in the PRC, Vietnam and Indonesia.



DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chung Yuk Sing, aged 61, has been the Chairman of the Board and Executive Director of the Company since
October 2002. He has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since June 2013. He is
the founder of the Group and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chung provides leadership
to the Board and is responsible for corporate development. He has been accredited as “Honorary Citizen of
Shantou City” in the PRC. Mr. Chung holds several public positions, including the Honorary President of
Shantou Overseas Sodality, Honorary President of Shantou Overseas Communication Association and Honorary
President of Social Security and Welfare Association of Lunghu, Shantou City.

Chen Hsiao Ying, aged 58, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since October 2007. He
was Chief Executive Officer of the Company from October 2007 to June 2013. He has been appointed as the
Vice Chairman of the Board since August 2013. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Chen had worked as Factory Manager in a sportswear manufacturing and trading company in Taiwan since
1981 prior to founding Actex Garment Co., Limited, a company specialising in the manufacturing and trading of
sportswear, in 1997. Mr. Chen has over 30 years of manufacturing and management experience in the garment
industry. He is in charge of the corporate strategy, management, business development and manufacturing
management of the Group. He is a brother of Ms. Chen Li Ying, a member of senior management of the
Group.

Huang Yongbiao, aged 56, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since May 2019. He is
currently a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a director of Foshan City Honglian
Garment Co., Limited (“Honglian Garment”) (ff L1 = Bt 8 KB R 7)), a company established in the PRC and
principally engaged in garment manufacturing. Mr. Huang has over 30 years of experience of manufacturing and
management experience in the garment industry.

Chen Fang Mei, Christina, aged 59, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since May
2009. She is responsible for overseeing the financial matters of the Group. She had been the Spokesperson
and Vice President of Pou Chen Corporation (stock code: 9904) (“Pou Chen”, and together with its subsidiaries,
the “Pou Chen Group”), a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation, during 2004 to 2013. She
graduated from Soochow University in Taiwan in 1986 and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in International Business.
Ms. Chen was Vice President and Head of Underwriting of Citibank Securities (Taiwan) Limited from 2001 to
2004. She has over 20 years of experience in the investment and securities industries in Taiwan. Ms. Chen had
been an executive director of Symphony Holdings Limited (stock code: 01223), a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) from July 2009 to June 2015.
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Directors” and Senior Management's Biographies (continued)

Shih Chih-Hung, aged 56, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since April 2020. He is
one of the vice presidents of Yue Yuen Industrial (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 00551) (“Yue Yuen”, and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Yue Yuen Group”), a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. He is also a director of Elitegroup Computer Systems Co., Ltd (stock code: 2331), Evermore
Chemical Industry Co., Ltd (stock code: 1735) and Nan Pao Resins Chemical Co., Ltd (stock code: 4766), all
companies listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation, since July 2021, May 2022 and May 2022,
respectively. He joined Yue Yuen in 1991 and is currently responsible for the promulgation and implementation
of administrative policies of Yue Yuen Group in Indonesia, Vietham, Bangladesh, Cambodia and Myanmar. He is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of Yue Yuen and one of the vice presidents of Pou Chen. He graduated
from Chung-Yuan University with a bachelor degree in accounting.

Chung Chi Kit, aged 33, has been the Executive Director of the Company since December 2020. He joined the
Group as Special Assistant to Chairman in April 2015 and was promoted to Business Managing Director in
March 2016. He is responsible for business planning and development of the Group. He was the Chief
Executive Officer of a wine distribution company up to March 2015. He graduated from Nottingham Trent
University in 2011 and holds a Bachelor's Degree in Accounting and Finance. He obtained a Master's Degree in
Marketing and a Master’'s Degree in International Business from the Royal Holloway, University of London and
Hult International Business School in 2012 and 2013, respectively. He is the son of Mr. Chung Yuk Sing, the
Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Hu Chia-Ho, aged 53, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since December 2020. He
joined Pou Chen in 1997 and is currently one of the vice presidents and the head of CEO office of Pou Chen.
He is an executive director, and a member of nomination committee and disclosure committee of Pou Sheng
International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 03813), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
with effect from 1 July 2022. He was an executive director and a vice president of Yue Yuen Group from
March 2015 to June 2022. Mr. Hu has extensive experiences in human resources management and business
development. Prior to joining Pou Chen, Mr. Hu had worked in Citibank Taiwan and was responsible for
corporate financing and related businesses. Mr. Hu graduated from the University of Wisconsin, Madison, the
United States of America with a Master’'s Degree of Science.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chan Cheuk Ho, aged 55, obtained a Master's Degree in Business Administration from the University of
Manchester in 2003. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Chan has more than 20 years of experience in accounting and finance. He has been an independent non-
executive director of Wai Chun Bio-Technology Limited (stock code: 00660), EPS Creative Health Technology
Group Limited (stock code: 03860) and Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 01013), all companies
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, since November 2020, July 2021 and March 2022,
respectively. He is a company secretary of SuperRobotics Holdings Limited (stock code: 08176), a company
listed on the growth enterprise market of the Stock Exchange with effect from June 2022. He was an
executive director of Pine Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 01079), a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange from June 2017 to May 2022. He has been Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company since November 2002.



Directors” and Senior Management’s Biographies (continued)

Lu Chi Chant, aged 70, is currently an independent director of Lealea Enterprise Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1444),
Hannstar Board Corp. (stock code: 5469) and Global Brands Manufacture Ltd. (stock code: 6191), all listed on
the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation. Mr. Lu has been an independent non-executive director of Natural
Beauty Bio-Technology Limited (stock code: 00157), a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, since December 2015. He was an independent director of Nyquest Technology Co., Ltd (stock code:
6494), a company listed on the Taiwan GreTai Securities Market from June 2019 to July 2021. He obtained a
Bachelor's Degree in Mechanical Engineering from National Taiwan University in 1974 and passed the
professional qualification examinations in Taiwan for certified public accountant in 1983 and for securities
investment analyst in 1988. During the period from 1976 to 1984, Mr. Lu worked as a mechanical engineer in
Formosa Plastics Corporation, a company established in Taiwan which is principally engaged in the
manufacturing of plastic raw materials and products. He joined Deloitte & Touche Taiwan as an auditor in 1984
and became a partner there in 1986. Mr. Lu left Deloitte & Touche Taiwan in 2011. He has been appointed as
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since February 2013.

Tham Kit Wan, aged 61, is a qualified lawyer of Hong Kong, England and Wales and Singapore. Ms. Tham
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Laws from The National University of Singapore in June 1983 and a degree of
Master of Laws (International Business Law) from The City University of Hong Kong in November 2006. She
has more than 25 years of experience in corporate finance and the commercial and banking fields. She was a
director of Union Bank of Hong Kong Limited (formerly traded under the stock code: 349 of the Stock
Exchange) and Union Bank Finance Limited from 1989 to 1993. She was the Head of Legal Department of
K.Wah Construction Materials Limited (now known as Galaxy Entertainment Group (stock code: 00027)), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, from 1998 to 2007. She served as Legal Counsel and
Senior Vice President of Symphony Holdings Limited (stock code: 01223), a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange, from 2007 to 2015. From 2014 to 2015, she also served as Company Secretary of Pak
Tak International Limited (stock code: 02668), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. She
has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since September 2016.

Leung Spencer Yu Cheong, aged 46, is currently the Principal Consultant of a consultancy firm that provides
advice to leading brand-portfolio companies in US and China on their transformation programs, including supply-
chain & transfer pricing optimisation, long term strategy review, and organisational structure design. Between
2005 and 2018, Mr. Leung had worked as an Equity Research Analyst covering in various industry segments,
and last held the position of Hong Kong Strategist with Union Bank of Switzerland. Mr. Leung is also a
Responsible Officer licensed to carry out Type 4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("“SFO") with Alphalex Capital Management (HK) Limited. Mr. Leung obtained a Master of Business
Administration Degree from New York University Leonard N. Stern School of Business in 2005, a Master of
Applied Science Degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Ottawa in 2002 and a Bachelor of
Applied Science Degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Toronto in 1998. Mr. Leung is currently
a member of the Admissions, Budgets and Allocations Committee of The Community Chest of Hong Kong. He
has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since December 2020.
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Directors” and Senior Management's Biographies (continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Tsai Nai Chung, aged 66, has joined the Group as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company since July
2013. Mr. Tsai has over 30 years of manufacturing and management experience in shoes and apparel
manufacturing industry. Mr. Tsai had been President and Vice President of certain companies of Yue Yuen
Group. By managing the factories in USA, Mexico, the PRC and Vietnam of Yue Yuen Group, he has extensive
and global experience in manufacturing industry.

Tsang Sau Fan, aged 55, has joined the Group since March 1996. She was Executive Director of the Company
from October 2002 to May 2009. Currently, she is General Manager of the Group and is responsible for sales
and marketing and administration management of the Group. She has over 20 years of experience in sales of
garment products. Prior to joining the Group, she worked as a merchandiser in a garment manufacturing
company in Hong Kong.

Chen Li Ying, aged 67, has joined the Group since October 2007. She was Executive Director of the Company
from October 2007 to May 2009. Currently, she is General Manager of the Group and is responsible for sales
and marketing and manufacturing management of the Group. She is also a director of other members of the
Group. She graduated from Ming Chuan University in Taiwan and had worked as an auditor in an accounting
firm in Taiwan for around 5 years after graduation. She worked in the sales and marketing department of a
sportswear manufacturing and trading company in Taiwan from 1981 to 1996 before she joined Actex Garment
Co., Limited, a company founded by Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying, in 2001. She has over 30 years of manufacturing and
management experience in the garment industry. She is the sister of Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying, an Executive
Director of the Company and Vice Chairman of the Board.

Woo Man Chi, aged 50, has joined the Group as Financial Controller since May 2005 and has been appointed
as Company Secretary of the Company since September 2005. She is responsible for the accounting, finance
and compliance related functions of the Group. She previously worked in a reputable international accounting
firm, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in Hong Kong for five years. Prior to joining the Group, she worked in a
manufacturing company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange as Assistant Financial Controller. She
has more than 25 years of experience in accounting and financial management. Ms. Woo holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Accounting from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. She is a practising member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report and the audited financial statements of the
Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries
of the Company are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group's principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the state of affairs of the Group's financial position
at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 100 to 103 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HK22 cents per ordinary share was paid on 16 December 2021. The Directors
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK14 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to
shareholders on the register of members on 31 August 2022. Details are set out in note 11 to the financial
statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements is set out below.

Results

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue 3,668,371 3,248,875 3,017,120 2,700,780 2,109,422
Profit before tax 363,938 422,386 295,149 182,675 273,666
Income tax expense (81,357) (95,651) (68,319) (44,527) (43,654)
Profit for the year 282,581 326,735 226,830 138,148 230,012

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 274,633 313,659 223,458 140,418 230,012
Non-controlling interests 7,948 13,176 3,372 (2,270) —
282,581 326,735 226,830 138,148 230,012
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Report of the Directors (continued)

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

Assets and liabilities

As at 31 March

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Non-current assets 1,404,279 1,124,131 1,138,684 1,206,960 871,380
Current assets 1,721,123 1,448,506 1,235,763 1,226,784 899,443
Current liabilities (1,328,430) (956,375) (989,271) (1,055,221) (470,249)
Net current assets 392,693 492,131 246,492 171,563 429,194
Non-current liabilities (75,283) (65,189) (62,472) (53,756) (29,267)

1,721,689 1,551,073 1,322,604 1,324,767 1,271,307

The above summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The movement in share capital of the Company during the year is set out in note 27 to the financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's articles of association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES DURING THE YEAR

On 3 November 2021, the Company and Mr. Ade Tjakralaksana (the “Subscriber”), one of the vendors of the
Indonesia Target Company regarding the Indonesia Acquisition (please refer to the section headed “Material
Acquisitions and Disposal” on page 11 of this annual report for details), entered into a subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the
Subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe for, up to 1,800,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the
Company (the “Subscription Shares”) at HK$4.23 per Subscription Share for an aggregate consideration of
HK$7,614,000 (the “Subscription”). The closing price of the Shares was HK$4.60 on the date of the
Subscription Agreement and the Subscription Shares were allotted and issued on 9 December 2021 (the
“Completion Date"”) pursuant to the general mandate granted by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 18 August 2021. The net price per Subscription Shares was approximately
HK$4.12 and the net proceeds of the Subscription was HK$7,414,000. Details of the Indonesia Acquisition and
the Subscription have been disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 3 November 2021, 18
November 2021 and 6 December 2021.



Report of the Directors (continued)

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES DURING THE YEAR (continued)

A detailed breakdown and description of the use of the net proceeds from the Subscription is set out as
follows:

Unutilised
amount Utilised Unutilised
as at the amount during amount
Completion the year as at
Intended use of proceeds Date under review 31 March 2022
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

For purchase of machineries and equipment for the

Indonesia Acquisition during the year 7.4 7.4 —

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed
securities during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, amounted to HK$947,978,000. The amount of
HK$947,978,000 includes the Company's share premium account and capital reserve of HK$616,998,000 in
aggregate at 31 March 2022, which may be distributed provided that immediately following the date on which
a dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted for approximately 98.1%
of the Group's total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein accounted for
approximately 68.4%.

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 27.3% of the Group's total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein accounted for approximately
7.6%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
five largest customers or suppliers.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chung Yuk Sing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Huang Yongbiao

Ms. Chen Fang Mei, Christina

Mr. Shih Chih-Hung

Mr. Chung Chi Kit

Mr. Hu Chia-Ho

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho

Mr. Lu Chi Chant

Ms. Tham Kit Wan

Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Company's articles of association, Mr. Huang Yongbiao, Mr. Chen Hsiao
Ying, Mr. Shih Chih-Hung and Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (“Mr. Chan”) will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Chan has served as an independent non-executive director of the Company for more than 9 years. The
Company, having reviewed the composition of the Board, considered Mr. Chan, an independent non-executive
Director, is suitable for re-election in line with the approach as set out in the nomination policy and the board
diversity policy of the Company. Mr. Chan has substantial board experience and good understandings of the
Group's operations. He has contributed significantly to helping the Company achieve high standard of corporate
governance and has contributed to the diversity of the Board by bringing his professional experience and
independent opinions to the Company.

Mr. Chan was not involved in the day-to-day management of the Company, did not have any family ties with
other Directors or senior management of the Company and the Company is not aware of any circumstance
which would interfere with the exercise of his professional judgment. He has also given an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules to the Company. Based on the above, the Board
believes that Mr. Chan has the character, integrity and experience to fulfill the role of an independent
non-executive Director and, if re-elected, will continue to make significant contribution to the Company.

The Company has also received annual confirmations of independence from the other independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lu Chi Chant, Ms. Tham Kit Wan and Mr. Leung Spencer Yu
Cheong, and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on pages 13 to 16 of this
annual report.



Report of the Directors (continued)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

All the independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific term and are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Group’'s emolument policy is formulated based on the performance of individual employees and is
reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also provide discretionary bonuses to its
employees as an incentive for their contribution to the Group. The primary goal of the emolument policy with
regard to the remuneration packages of the Group’s executive directors is to enable the Group to retain and
motivate executive directors by linking their compensation with performance as measured against corporate
objectives achieved.

The principal elements of the Group’s remuneration packages include basic salaries, discretionary bonuses and
housing benefits.

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval and the Board was authorised to fix the Directors’
fee at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, losses, damages and
expenses which they may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done about the execution of the duties of
their respective office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company had arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other officers of the Group for the year under review.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive in the share capital
and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQO")), which have been
notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which any such Directors or chief executive were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"), were as follows:

The Company

Percentage of

Number of shares held the Company’s
Name of Director Capacity Long position Short position issued capital
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing Interest in a controlled 72,650,000 — 13.61
(“Mr. Chung”) corporation (Note 1)
Beneficial owner 18,522,000 — 3.47
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying Beneficial owner 36,100,800 — 6.76
Mr. Huang Yongbiao Interest in a controlled 32,320,000 — 6.05
("Mr. Huang”) corporation (Note 2)
Mr. Chung Chi Kit Beneficial owner 8,500,000 — 1.59
Notes:
1. These shares are held by Time Easy Investment Holdings Limited (“Time Easy"), the entire issued share capital of which is held
by Mr. Chung, Executive Director.
2. These shares are held by Excel Skill International Limited (“Excel Skill”), the entire issued share capital of which is held by Mr.

Huang, Executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors and chief executive had registered an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares” above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations granted to any of
the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.



Report of the Directors (continued)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSON’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the following persons, other than the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which have been
disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and which have been recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

5

Percentage of E

Number of ordinary shares held the Company’s §

Name Capacity Long position Short position issued capital %

Time Easy Beneficial owner 72,650,000 — 13.61 %

(Note 1) =

Excel Skill Beneficial owner 32,320,000 — 6.05 E

(Note 2) z

Pou Chen Interest in a controlled 192,000,000 — 35.97 =]

corporation (Note 3) é

Wealthplus Holdings Limited Interest in a controlled 192,000,000 — 35.97 =

("Wealthplus”) corporation (Note 3) E
Yue Yuen Interest in a controlled 192,000,000 — 35.97

corporation (Note 3) m

Pou Hing Industrial Co. Ltd. Interest in a controlled 192,000,000 — 35.97

("Pou Hing") corporation (Note 3) B

Great Pacific Investments Beneficial owner 192,000,000 — 35.97 H

Limited (“Great Pacific”) (Note 3) a}ﬁ

bl

o>

Notes: jall}

1. The entire issued share capital of Time Easy is held by Mr. Chung.

2. The entire issued share capital of Excel Skill is held by Mr. Huang.

3. The 192,000,000 shares of the Company were held by Great Pacific which was wholly-owned by Pou Hing. The entire issued
share capital of Pou Hing was held by Yue Yuen in which Wealthplus and Win Fortune Investments Ltd. (“Win Fortune”) held
an interest of 47.95% and 3.16% respectively. Wealthplus and Win Fortune are in turn wholly-owned by Pou Chen.
Accordingly, Pou Hing, Yue Yuen, Wealthplus, Win Fortune and Pou Chen are all deemed to be interested in the 192,000,000
shares of the Company held by Great Pacific.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, no person, other than the Directors and chief executive of the
Company, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
at least 25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

Interest of the Directors in a competing business during the year under review required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules is as follows:

Nature of competing Appointment
Name of Director Name of company business Nature of interest date
Mr. Huang Dalian Garment (Note 1) Garment manufacturing  As a shareholder November 2013

and a director
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Honglian Garment Garment manufacturing  As a shareholder January 2019
(Note 2) and a director
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung Yue Yuen (Note 3) Garment manufacturing  As a vice president March 2019
(“Mr. Shih")
Pou Chen (Note 3) Garment manufacturing  As a vice president November 2020
Mr. Hu Chia-Ho Yue Yuen (Note 3) Garment manufacturing  As a director March 2015
("Mr. Hu")
Pou Chen (Note 3) Garment manufacturing  As a vice president March 2019
Notes:
1. Dalian Garment is a company incorporated in the PRC in November 2013. It was principally engaged in the manufacturing and

sales of garment and embroidery processing but had no longer been engaged in manufacturing business since early 2019. With
effect from 1 March 2022, Dalian Garment has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company after acquisition of 100%
of the shareholding interests of Dalian Garment from Mr. Huang by the Group. Please refer to the section headed “Material
Acquisitions and Disposal” on page 11 of this annual report for details. During the period from 1 April 2021 to 28 February
2022, as Dalian Garment had no manufacturing business, Mr. Huang had no conflict of interest with the Group during the
aforesaid period.
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2. Honglian Garment is a company incorporated in the PRC in March 2010 and is indirectly held as to 85% by Mr. Huang. The
principal business activities of Honglian Garment are manufacturing of sportwear and garments. Based on information provided
by Honglian Garment, it had no garment manufacturing business for the year ended 31 December 2021. As the Group is
principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of sportwear and garments, the business of Honglian Garment potentially
compete with the Group.

o o

Mr. Huang participates in the apparel manufacturing business of Honglian Garment. Mr. Huang has confirmed that he is
mindful of his duty to avoid conflict of interest. In cases where conflict of interest situation arises, Mr. Huang will refrain from
taking part in the decision making process and will abstain from voting on the relevant resolution in board meeting. On this
basis and given that Honglian Garment has its own management personnel other than Mr. Huang, the Directors believe that
the Group is capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’'s length from Honglian Garment.




Report of the Directors (continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

3. Yue Yuen is a company listed on the Stock Exchange and is a substantial shareholder of the Company. The principal business
activities of Yue Yuen Group are manufacturing and sales of footwear products, and retail and distribution of sportswear
products. Based on the published annual report of Yue Yuen, Yue Yuen recorded total revenue of around US$4.9 billion for its
footwear manufacturing business for the year ended 31 December 2021. As the Group is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of sportswear and garments, the businesses of Yue Yuen Group and the Group potentially compete
with each other.

Pou Chen is a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation and is a substantial shareholder of Yue Yuen. The
principal business activities of Pou Chen Group are manufacturing of shoes and retailing of sporting goods and brand licensing
business. Based on the published annual report of Pou Chen, Pou Chen recorded total revenue of around NT$138 billion for its
footwear manufacturing business for the year ended 31 December 2021. As the Group is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of sportswear and garments, the businesses of Pou Chen Group and the Group potentially compete
with each other.

Given that Yue Yuen Group, Pou Chen Group and the Group are operated by different and separate management team, the
Directors consider that the Group is capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’s length with Yue Yuen
Group and Pou Chen Group.

Having considered the nature and extent of the participation of Mr. Shih and Mr. Hu in the business of Yue Yuen Group, Pou
Chen Group and the Group, the Directors believe that there is unlikely to be any significant competition caused to the
business of the Group. Mr. Hu resigned as director of Yue Yuen with effect from 30 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective associates was interested in, apart from the
Group's business, any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 34
to the financial statements. Save as mentioned in the section headed "“Connected Transactions” below, other
related party transactions are fully exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

2202 140d3d TVNNNY

o ——




Report of the Directors (continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group (i) through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Pro Kingtex Vietnam Co., Limited (“Pro Kingtex Vietnam”),
entered into the following transactions with Pouyuen Vietnam Company Limited (“Pouyuen Vietnam”), a
company established in Vietnam and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Yue Yuen who in turn is a
connected person of the Company; and (ii) through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Foshan City Shunde District
Yonghong Textile Company Limited (“Shunde Yonghong”) entered into the following transaction with Macau
Yonghong, a company established in Macau and wholly-owned by Mr. Huang, which constituted continuing
connected transactions and connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the year under review:

Continuing Connected Transactions

(a) Master Services Agreements
On 1 June 2018, Pouyuen Vietnam and Pro Kingtex Vietnam entered into a master services agreement
(the “Master Services Agreement”), pursuant to which Pouyuen Vietnam had agreed to provide certain
administration and staff messing services to Pro Kingtex Vietnam for a term of 3 years commencing from
1 June 2018 to 31 May 2021 subject to a maximum service fees payable by Pro Kingtex Vietnam to
Pouyuen Vietnam as follows:

For the financial

year ended
31 March 2022

US$ (exclusive of value-added tax) 300,000
Equivalent to approximately HK$ 2,340,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2022, the actual amount paid or payable by Pro Kingtex Vietnam to Pouyuen
Vietnam under the Master Services Agreement amounted to US$199,375 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,551,000).

On 1 June 2021, Pouyuen Vietnam and Pro Kingtex Vietnam entered into a new master services

% agreement (the “New Master Services Agreement”) to renew the Master Services Agreement for a term
,:E of 3 years commencing from 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2024 subject to a maximum service fees payable by
% Pro Kingtex Vietnam to Pouyuen Vietnam as follows:

o

==

S For the financial year ended/ending 31 March

: 2022 2023 2024 2025
ﬂl)q' US$ (exclusive of value-added tax) 1,500,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 300,000
-lF& Equivalent to approximately HK$ 11,700,000 14,040,000 14,040,000 2,340,000
il

i

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the actual amount paid or payable by Pro Kingtex Vietnam to Pouyuen
Vietnam under the New Master Services Agreement amounted to US$801,738 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,238,000).




Report of the Directors (continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

(b) Tenancy Agreement

On 1 June 2018, Pouyuen Vietnam as landlord and Pro Kingtex Vietnam as tenant entered into a tenancy
agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”), for 3 years commencing from 1 June 2018 to 31 May 2021 (both
days inclusive) for a monthly rental of not more than US$71,184 per month (inclusive of management fees
and exclusive of value-added tax). Accordingly, the maximum rental payable by Pro Kingtex Vietnam to
Pouyuen Vietnam during the term of the Tenancy Agreement would be as follows:

For the financial

year ended
31 March 2022

US$ (exclusive of value-added tax) 142,368
Equivalent to approximately HK$ 1,110,000

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the actual amount paid or payable by Pro Kingtex Vietnam to Pouyuen
Vietnam under the Tenancy Agreement amounted to US$142,368 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,110,000).

Further details of the Master Services Agreement, the New Master Services Agreement and the Tenancy
Agreement have been disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 29 March 2018, 27 April 2018,
1 June 2018 and 1 June 2021 (collectively, the “CCT Announcements”), and the circular of the Company dated
30 April 2018.

During the year under review, the actual amounts of all the transactions contemplated under the Master
Services Agreement, the New Master Services Agreement and the Tenancy Agreement (collectively, the
“Continuing Connected Transactions”) paid or payable under the agreements did not exceed the respective
aggregate maximum amounts as previously disclosed in the CCT Announcements.

Connected Transactions

(a)

Tenancy Agreements

On 25 November 2020, Pouyuen Vietnam and Pro Kingtex Vietnam entered into a new supplemental
tenancy agreement (the “New Supplemental Tenancy Agreement”), for 2 years and 6 months
commencing from 1 December 2020 to 31 May 2023 (both days inclusive) for a monthly rental of not
more than US$11,094 per month (inclusive of management fees and exclusive of value-added tax).

On 1 June 2021, Pouyuen Vietnam and Pro Kingtex Vietnam entered into a new tenancy agreement (the
“New Tenancy Agreement”) to renew the Tenancy Agreement for a term of 3 years from 1 June 2021 to
31 May 2024 (both days inclusive). Pursuant to the New Tenancy Agreement, the monthly rental should
not be more than US$71,184 (equivalent to approximately HK$555,000) per month (inclusive of
management fees and exclusive of value-added tax).
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Report of the Directors (continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Connected Transactions (continued)

(a) Tenancy Agreements (continued)

The Group, as the tenant, recognised right-of-use assets according to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards 16 issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with the values of
US$324,022 and US$2,484,736 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,511,000 and HK$19,331,000
respectively) for the New Supplemental Tenancy Agreement and the New Tenancy Agreement
respectively. The transactions under the New Supplemental Tenancy Agreement and the New Tenancy
Agreement are regarded as acquisition of asset under the definition of transaction set out in Rule
14.04(1)(a) and Rule 14A.24(1) of the Listing Rules.

(b) The Shunde Acquisition
On 1 March 2022, Shunde Yonghong acquired 100% equity interest in Dalian Garment from Macau
Yonghong at a final consideration of RMB59,877,000 (equivalent to HK$74,151,000). Further details of the
Shunde Acquisition are included in note 30 to the financial statements.

Further details of the transactions under the New Supplemental Tenancy Agreement, the New Tenancy
Agreement and the Shunde Acquisition (collectively, the “Connected Transactions”) have been disclosed in the
four announcements of the Company dated 25 November 2020, 1 June 2021, 9 June 2021 and 26 January
2022, respectively.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions and the
Connected Transactions and confirmed that the respective agreements and terms of the Continuing Connected
Transactions and the Connected Transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i)~ on normal commercial terms or better; and

(il)  according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company's shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of the Company’s Auditor

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) "Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The Company’s auditor issued its unmodified letter containing its findings and
conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules.



Report of the Directors (continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Corporate Governance Report of the Company is set out in pages 31 to 44 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 including the challenges/
uncertainties and the ways to tackle them together with a discussion on the Group's future development are
set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” set out on page 3, pages 4 to 7 and pages 8 to 12 respectively of this annual report. Description
of the risks faced by the Group is set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

Environmental policy and performance

The Group is committed to making contributions to sustainable development in different aspects, including
environmental protection. To ensure compliance with applicable environmental laws, the Group has developed a
comprehensive environmental policy for its operations. During the year under review, the Group had been in
compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations of Hong Kong, Mainland China, Indonesia and
Vietnam.

Detailed information regarding the environmental, social and governance practices adopted by the Group is set
out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report which will be disclosed in a separate report and
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company within the prescribed time limit under the
Listing Rules.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
During the year under review, so far as the Company is aware, the Group had complied with all relevant laws
and regulations material to the operations of the Group.

Relationships with employees, customers, shareholders, suppliers and other stakeholders

The ongoing success of the Group is dependent on its stakeholders, including its employees, customers, the
Shareholders and suppliers. The Group regards its employees as important stakeholders and provides them with
competitive remuneration packages and other labour benefits in line with industry practices, a workplace
conducive to occupational health and safety, as well as in-service training on a continued basis.

The Group is committed to forging closer ties with its customers. We also consistently uphold and strengthen
our cooperation with suppliers, while maintaining communications with shareholders through, among others, our
corporate website (www.eaglenice.com.hk).

The Company communicates with the Shareholders and other stakeholders mainly through: (i) the convening of
annual general meetings which provides an opportunity for direct communication between the Shareholders and
the Board; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual and interim reports and/or circulars in accordance with
the Listing Rules, as well as press releases providing the latest updates on the Group’s development; and (iii)
the website of the Company which provides the latest information on the Group.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant event of the Group after the reporting period are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution of their reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chung Yuk Sing
Chairman

Hong Kong

30 June 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles
of transparency, accountability and independence. The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance
practices. The Company had, throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, complied with the code provisions of
the CG Code except for the deviations specified with considered reasons for such deviations as explained in
this corporate governance report.

1. DIRECTORS

a. Board’'s Composition & Board Meetings
During the year under review, six board meetings and one general meeting were held. The
composition of the Board and the attendance of each Director at board meetings and general
meeting during the year are set out as follows:

Number of Number of
board meetings general meeting
Name of Director attended/held attended/held
Executive Directors
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 6/6 11
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying (Vice Chairman) 6/6 11
Mr. Huang Yongbiao 6/6 11
Ms. Chen Fang Mei, Christina 6/6 11
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung 6/6 11
Mr. Chung Chi Kit 6/6 11
Mr. Hu Chia-Ho 6/6 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho 6/6 11
Mr. Lu Chi Chant 6/6 11
Ms. Tham Kit Wan 6/6 11
Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong 6/6 11

Biographical details of all Directors are disclosed in the section headed "Directors’ and Senior
Management'’s Biographies” on pages 13 to 16 of this annual report. Save that Mr. Chung Yuk Sing,
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is the father of Mr. Chung Chi Kit, an executive Director,
to the best knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships amongst members of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

1.

DlRECTORS (continued)

b.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

At least one of the independent non-executive directors of the Company (“INEDs") has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise under Rule 3.10
of the Listing Rules. The Group has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considered all of the INEDs to be
independent pursuant to the factors set out therein.

Each of the INEDs was appointed for a term of three years with a formal letter of appointment
setting out the key terms and conditions of his/her appointment.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 under Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Chung
Yuk Sing, who has been the Chairman of the Board since 2002, was appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 30 June 2013. Notwithstanding the aforesaid
deviation, the Board considers that the present structure will not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Group as the Board assumes collective
responsibility on the decision-making process of the Company’s business strategies and operation.
The principal divisions of the Group’s businesses are managed by different directors.

Distinctive Roles of the Board and the Management

The Board has the collective responsibility for leadership and control of, and for promoting the
success of, the Group by directing and supervising the Group's affairs. The Board is responsible for
determining the overall strategy and corporate development and ensuring the business operations
are properly monitored. The Board reserves the right to decide all policy matters of the Group and
material transactions.

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and monitoring the operations of
the Group, in discharging its duties, certain responsibilities are delegated to:

(i) the standing Board committees of the Company namely: the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Each committee’s constitution, powers and
duties are clearly defined by its terms of reference, and the committees are accountable to the
Board;

(i) the Chief Executive Officer, being delegated with the day-to-day management of the businesses
of the Group, is accountable to the Board; and

(i) the senior management team of the Group, being delegated with the responsibilities to deal
with daily operational functions, is answerable to the Board.

The Board regularly reviews its arrangement for delegation of authority to ensure that such
delegation is appropriate in view of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that appropriate
reporting systems are in place.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

1. DlRECTORS (continued)

e.

Appointment, re-election and removal

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and any Directors appointed by the Board shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy)
or until the next following annual general meeting of the Company (in the case of an addition to the
existing Board) and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The appointment of new Directors and nomination of Directors for re-election at annual general
meetings are first considered by the Nomination Committee. The recommendations of the
Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. In considering the appointment of
new Directors, the Nomination Committee will assess the candidate according to the criteria set out
in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. In the case of a candidate for an INED, he/she should
also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code
throughout the year.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against
its Directors and officers.

Continuing professional development

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Each newly appointed Director would
receive an induction package covering the Group’s businesses and the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company. The Group also provides briefings and other training to
develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills. The Group continuously updates Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
Circulars or guidance notes are issued to Directors and senior management to ensure awareness of
corporate governance practices.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

1. DlRECTORS (continued)

h.

Continuing professional development (continued)
During the year, the Directors participated in the following trainings:

Type of Trainings

Executive Directors
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying
Mr. Huang Yongbiao
Ms. Chen Fang Mei, Christina A,
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung

Mr. Chung Chi Kit

Mr. Hu Chia-Ho

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho

Mr. Lu Chi Chant

Ms. Tham Kit Wan

Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong

>>>m> > >
OO OO0 00

> >
o> > w
OO 00

A: having training provided by the Company
B: attending seminars/conferences/workshops/forums
C: reading newspapers/journals and updates relating to their profession and director’s responsibilities

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of
the Company’s affairs. During the year under review, the Company Secretary had duly complied with
the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

2. BOARD COMMITTEES

a.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director, namely, Mr. Chung Yuk Sing and
two INEDs, namely, Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho and Mr. Lu Chi Chant. Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho is the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee.

The main functions of the Remuneration Committee are to assist the Board in establishing a formal
and transparent procedure for setting policy on Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management (i.e. the model described in code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) under Part 2
of the CG Code was adopted) as well as on the remuneration of INEDs by reference to the
Company’s operation results, individual performance and prevailing market rate.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

a. Remuneration Committee (continued)
The committee meets at least once a year. During the year under review, two committee meetings
were held. The attendance of the individual member of the Remuneration Committee at the meeting
is set out below:

Number of

meetings

Committee Members attended/held
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing 2/2
Mr. Lu Chi Chant 2/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year:

(i) review of the salary increment for the Directors and staff in Hong Kong, with a recommendation
to the Board for approval; and

(i) recommendation to the Board on the payment of discretionary bonuses to the executive Directors
and the senior management in respect of the interim results of the Company for the six
months ended 30 September 2021.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 under Part 2 of the CG Code, details of the annual remuneration of
the members of the senior management (excluding Directors) by band for the year ended 31 March
2022 is as follows:

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3

Number of

senior

Emolument band management
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 ;%
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 0 %
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 0 g
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 0 N
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 |1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 0 i
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1 u
4 2

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note
8 to the financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

b.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs. Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee. The Board considers that each member of the Audit Committee has broad commercial
experience and together form a suitable mix of expertise in the legal and accounting fields and that
the composition and members of the Audit Committee comply with the requirements under Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in its terms of reference. To
maintain its independence, the Audit Committee is required to have at least one meeting with the
external auditor without the presence of executive Directors within a financial year. The function of
the committee is to provide assistance to the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities to the
Shareholders, potential shareholders, the investment community and other stakeholders relating to:
(i) the integrity of accounts and financial reporting process of the Company;

(i) the assessment of the external auditor's qualifications and independence;

(i) the performance of the Company’s internal audit function and the external auditor; and

(iv) the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company.
During the year, the Audit Committee held three meetings including two meetings with the external

auditor without the presence of the executive Directors and the management. The attendance of the
individual member of the Audit Committee at the meetings is set out below:

Number of

meetings

Committee Members attended/held
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Lu Chi Chant 3/3
Ms. Tham Kit Wan 3/3



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

b. Audit Committee (continued)
The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the year:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

review of the annual report and results announcement of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2021, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

review of the external auditor's independence and their report, with a recommendation to the
Board for the re-appointment of the external auditor by the Shareholders at its 2021 annual
general meeting;

review of the interim report and results announcement of the Company for the six months ended
30 September 2021, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

consideration of audit and non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
through an independent internal audit service provider who was engaged to perform the
aforesaid work on a half-yearly basis and no material findings had been identified,

review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and

budget;

review of the audit fees payable to the external auditor for the year ended 31 March 2022, with
a recommendation to the Board for approval; and

review of continuing connected transactions and connected transactions.

Regarding the Group’s corporate governance, the Board has delegated the responsibilities to the
Audit Committee to perform the following corporate governance duties including:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors
and management;

to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance report; and

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to employees and the Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

b.

Audit Committee (continued)

During the year, for the corporate governance functions, an external independent consultant with
professional staff in possession of relevant expertise (the “Independent Professional Firm"”) was
engaged to perform the aforesaid work and no material findings had been identified.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, namely, Mr. Chung Yuk Sing and two
INEDs, namely, Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho and Mr. Lu Chi Chant. Mr. Chung Yuk Sing is the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

The main functions of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board, to identify individuals who are suitably qualified to become the Directors, and to
assess the independence of the INEDs. After considering the independence and qualifications of
nominees, the Nomination Committee makes recommendations to the Board so as to ensure that all
nominations are fair and transparent. The Nomination Committee is also making recommendations
on the appointment or reappointment of the Directors and succession planning of the Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

The committee meets at least once every year and additional meetings may be convened by the
chairman of the committee as and when necessary. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Nomination Committee met once to review the existing structure, size, diversity and composition of
the Board, and to assess the independence of the INEDs. The attendance of individual member of
the Nomination Committee at the meetings is set out below:

Number of

meetings

Committee Members attended/held
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing (Chairman) 11
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho A
Mr. Lu Chi Chant A

Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy in December 2013 (the
“Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element in maintaining a
competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in the
skills, regional and industry experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors.
These differences will be considered in determining the optimum composition of the Board and
when possible should be balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

C.

Nomination Committee (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Nomination Committee will discuss annually for achieving diversity from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, skills, cultural and educational background,
professional experience and knowledge. The Nomination Committee will also conduct a review of the
policy periodically which will include an assessment of the effectiveness of the policy and
recommend any proposed changes to rectify identified deficiencies for the approval by the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendations to the Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint
Directors to fill casual vacancies. When the Nomination Committee considers it appropriate, it invites
Board members or any person to nominate candidates and makes final recommendations for the
Board's consideration and approval.

Selection Criteria
When assessing and selecting candidates for directorships, the members of the Nomination
Committee shall consider the following factors:

(i) age, skills, knowledge, experience, expertise, professional and educational qualifications,
background and other personal qualities of the candidate;

(i) effect on the Board's composition and diversity;

(i)  commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively carry out his/her duties. In
this regard, the number and nature of offices held by the candidate in public companies or
organisations, and other executive appointments or significant commitments will be
considered;

(iv)  potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the candidate is selected;

(v)  independence of the candidate;

(vi) in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an independent non-executive director, the number
of years he/she has already served the Company; and

(vii) other factors considered to be relevant by the Nomination Committee on a case by case basis.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be decisive and exhaustive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

C.

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Procedures

Appointment of Directors

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee identifies individual(s) suitably qualified to become Board members,
having due regard to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, and assesses the
independence of the proposed independent non-executive Director(s) as appropriate;

The Nomination Committee may use any process it deems appropriate to evaluate the
candidate(s), which may include personal interviews, background checks, presentations or
written submissions by the candidate(s) and third party references;

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board;

The Board considers the individual(s) recommended by the Nomination Committee, having due
regard to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy; and

The Board confirms the appointment of the individual(s) as Director(s) or recommends the
individual(s) to stand for election at a general meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the next general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election by the Shareholders, whereby individual(s) appointed as an
addition to the existing Board will hold office until the next annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election by the Shareholders at the next annual
general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Re-appointment of Directors

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The Nomination Committee considers each retiring Director, having due regard to the Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, and assesses the independence of each retiring
independent non-executive Director;

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board;

The Board considers each retiring Director recommended by the Nomination Committee, having
due regard to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

The Board recommends the retiring Directors to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association; and

The Shareholders approve the re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial statements that give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Board was not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, so that the Board has prepared the accounts on a going
concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young, are set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 45 to 49 of this annual report.

Corporate Governance, Internal Control, Group Risk Management

The Board has the overall responsibilities for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the
risks (including environmental, social and governance-related risks (“ESG-Related Risks”)). It is willing
to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems (including those for ESG-Related Risks) and reviewing their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its duties. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, though not
absolute, assurance against material misstatements or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks
of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk associated with its
businesses and operations. The system comprises the following phases:

(i) Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks that could affect the
achievement of objectives.

(i) Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

(il)  Management: Consider the risk responses and ensure effective communication to the Board and
ongoing monitoring of the residual risks.

A disclosure of inside information policy is in place to ensure potential inside information being
captured and confidentiality of such information being maintained until consistent and timely
disclosure are made in accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information, which includes:

(i) Designated reporting channels from different departments/operation units informing any potential
inside information to the Company Secretary;

(i) The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know
basis. Employees who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

3. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

b.

Corporate Governance, Internal Control, Group Risk Management (continued)
(iii)  Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into significant negotiations;

(iv)  The Senior Management to evaluate the potential inside information and to determine further
escalation, and the executive Directors to determine disclosure as required; and

(v)  Investor Relations Director is the designated person who speaks on behalf of the Company when
communicating with external parties, such as media, analysts or investors.

During the year, the Company engaged the Independent Professional Firm to perform internal audit
function for the year, which comprised, inter alia, enterprise risk assessment and reviews on the
internal control system of the Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls. The
review plan was approved by the Audit Committee and the Board. Based on the risk assessments
and the reviews of the internal control systems of the Group conducted by the Independent
Professional Firm for the year, no significant risk and control deficiency was identified. The relevant
assessment and review reports have been considered by the Audit Committee and the Board for
assessing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
performed by the Independent Professional Firm. The Board, through the reviews made by the
Independent Professional Firm and the Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate for the Group as a whole.

Auditor’'s Remuneration
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the fee payable to the Group’s auditor, Ernst & Young, is set out
as follows:

Amount of

Services rendered fee payable
HK$'000

Audit services 4,372
Non-audit services 370
4,742




Corporate Governance Report (continued)

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

a. Procedures for Shareholders to convene Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)
The Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company can make
a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary to convene an EGM pursuant to article
58 of the Company’s articles of association. The written requisition must state the objects of the
meeting, and must be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

b. Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
The Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the
Investor Relations Director and deposit at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
or by e-mail to ir@eaglenice.com.hk.

c. Putting forward proposal at general meeting
There are no provisions under the Company's articles of association or the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands regarding procedures for the Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as Director. The Shareholders may follow
the procedures set out above to convene an EGM for any business specified in such written
requisition or the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
which is available on the website of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company intends to maintain a balance between meeting the expectations of the Shareholders and
retaining adequate capital for development and operation of the Company’'s business. According to the
dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”), in deciding whether to declare or recommend a
dividend, the Board shall consider the following factors:

(i) the Group's operating results, actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the financial position of the Group including debt-to-equity ratio, return on equity and related financial
information;

(iii)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group;

(iv) the Group's expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;

(v)  general economic and financial conditions, business cycle of the Group and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the
Company;

(vi) any restrictions imposed by the contracting parties of the Group on the payment of dividends; and

(vii) any other factors the Board may deem relevant and appropriate.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board,

and any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The Dividend

Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or
declared in any specific periods.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

6. COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy since March 2012. The primary
communication channel between the Company and the Shareholders is through the publication of
announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports, which are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company's annual general meeting acts as a useful platform for direct communication between the
Shareholders and the Board. Separate resolutions are proposed on each substantially separate issue at the
general meetings.

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules and the memorandum and articles
of association in respect of voting by poll and other related matters.

7. INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no change to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Existing Memorandum and Articles of Association”). On 30 June 2022,
the Company announced that the Board proposes to make certain amendments to the Existing
Memorandum and Articles of Association for the purposes to conform to the uniform set of 14 core
standards for shareholder protections for issuers regardless of their place of incorporation set out in
Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules for shareholder protections, to allow general meetings to be held as an
electronic meeting or a hybrid meeting and to incorporate certain housekeeping changes. The Board also
proposes to adopt the new Memorandum and Articles of Association in substitution for, and to the
exclusion of, the Existing Memorandum and Articles of Association. The proposed amendments to the
Existing Memorandum and Articles of Association shall be subject to the passing of a special resolution
by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company to be convened on 23 August 2022
(the "AGM").
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A circular containing, among others, details of the proposed amendments to the Memorandum and
Articles of Association and a notice convening the AGM will be despatched to the Shareholders in due
course.

The Existing Memorandum and Articles of Association has been posted on the websites of the Company
(http://www.eaglenice.com.hk) and the designated issuer website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (http://www.hkex.com.hk).
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On behalf of the Board

Chung Yuk Sing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2022




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

EY::

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 100 to 212, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill was HK$104,076,000 as
at 31 March 2022. The Group performs an impairment
test for goodwill on an annual basis. The impairment test
is based on the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Management’s assessment process involves significant
judgements and assumptions, including those related to
the expected future cash flow forecasts, associated
growth rates and the discount rate applied, which are

Our audit procedures included, among others,
involving our valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used
by the Group, in particular, the discount rate and
terminal growth rate. We compared the forecasts
prepared by management with the historical
performance of the cash-generating units and the
business development plan. We also assessed the
Group's disclosures of goodwill in the consolidated

sensitive to expected future market conditions and the  financial statements.
cash-generating units’ actual performance.

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and
disclosures of impairment testing of goodwill are included
in notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.



Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.



Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Kwong Ka Yan.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

30 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
GalaR

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_FE__HF-H=+—HIFE

2022 2021
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B &E T#&ET THET
REVENUE —E A ON 5! 3,668,371 3,248,875
m Cost of sales HE R A (3,018,152) (2,596,468)
E Gross profit FEF 650,219 652,407
2 Other income and gains, net EMBARIKE 358 5 20,471 39,696
% Selling and distribution expenses $H%& &7 855 % (30,323) (25,770)
= Administrative expenses THREAX (271,301) (238,615)
§ Finance costs BE A 6 (5,128) (5,332)
% PROFIT BEFORE TAX PR A F 7 363,938 422,386
= Income tax expense e =x 10 (81,357) (95,651)
o
=] PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEAN 282,581 326,735
=
% Attributable to: e -
§ Owners of the Company AREEE A 274,633 313,559
5 Non-controlling interests B Ay 7,948 13,176
m 282,581 326,735
= EARNINGS PER SHARE AREHEEA
% ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS EBLERET
l‘% OF THE COMPANY 12
t Basic BN HK51.5 cents HK58.9 cents
§ 51.55& 1l 58.97% 1l
e
o Diluted e HK51.5 cents HK58.9 cents
51.55& 1l 58.97% 1l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEEBER

Year ended 31 March 2022
HBE - —_F-ZF=+—HIFFE

2022 2021
—E-C—& s —f&
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEERT 282,581 326,735
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ Hit2mE#E ()
(EXPENSE)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) REBHBARUTERDES
that will not be reclassified to profit or BERWEMEEmKaE

m

=

(1)

m

=

()

=2

loss in subsequent periods: (X)) - E
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit EEBEANFEZEE E
plans b (BE) 7,788 (1,184) 2
Other comprehensive income that may be REZHBAEEFLES B
reclassified to profit or loss in BaNEMEEmEKE 3
subsequent periods: =
Exchange differences on translation of MEBIEBZERER @
foreign operations 53,513 110,398 %
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR #EH i &Ik S
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (EMRRE) 61,301 109,214 ﬁ
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR #AFEELEKZEEE =
THE YEAR 343,882 435,949 @
Attributable to: &1 - g
Owners of the Company RAREE A 334,248 420,309 ﬂ%
Non-controlling interests FiE R RERD 9,634 15,640 =
343,882 435,949 =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FaMEBERRR

31 March 2022
¥ —HF=Z/F=+—H

2022 2021
—E-—fF o
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5% F#ET FHBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 13 976,237 828,991
Right-of-use assets FEREESE 14(a) 267,972 169,448
Goodwill BHe 16 104,076 100,334
Intangible assets BmEEE 17 7,758 10,579
Deposits B 15 48,236 14,779
Total non-current assets EREBEEHLE 1,404,279 1,124,131
CURRENT ASSETS mENE E
Inventories 78 18 728,962 572,713
Accounts receivable & W BR FR 19 393,843 348,046
Prepayments, deposits and other T FIE - & K&
receivables H g kI8 15 138,790 83,028
Tax recoverable ] 1K [B] %2 18 3,070 1,731
Restricted bank balance Z IRl SR 1T 45 BR 20 617 593
Cash and bank balances & RIRITHERR 20 455,841 442,395
Total current assets MBEEEE 1,721,123 1,448,506
CURRENT LIABILITIES RE&E
Accounts payable JE < BR 7K 21 299,634 273,654
Accrued liabilities and other FE &t & & & H fth FE 4 FE
payables 23 292,280 170,123
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t B IR{TE 24 648,557 428,438
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 9,713 3,406
Tax payable FE TR 1E 78,246 80,754
Total current liabilities BB EEE 1,328,430 956,375
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEERE 392,693 492,131

1,796,972

19,861
12,098
43,324

75,283

1,721,689



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)
BEHBRAR (M)

31 March 2022

T —H#F=ZH=+—H

2022 2021

—E-—fF -S4

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

B 5 FET TFET

EQUITY &g

Equity attributable to owners of A EHEE ABLELR m
the Company [
Issued capital SECEE TN 27 5,338 5,320 2
Reserves #E 28 1,668,311 1,507,347 =)
1,673,649 1,512,667 =
Non-controlling interests R REDR 48,040 38,406 =
Total equity BARYEE 1,721,689 1,551,073 J%’
E
=
5
wn
=
=
(ww)
™
Ht
]
E
CHUNG YUK SING CHEN HSIAO YING i
EEH BN =
Director Director Eﬁ
EF EF 5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GERmEEYR

Year ended 31 March 2022

BE_E-_—F-/F=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LY 2PN
Share Statutory  Exchange Non-
Issued  premium Capital surplus  fluctuation  Retained controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
B&fT ki BE Ex FER
123 BEKE EAEE BUERE  RBEE BFE a4  REER a:t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i3 TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER
(Note 28)  (Note 28)
(Wat28)  (W2s)
At 1 April 2020 RZZ_ZEME-H 5320 566,314 (229) 71,342 (67,108) 724199 1,299,838 2,766 1,322,604
Profit for the year EE&T - - - - - 313,559 313,559 13,176 326,735
Other comprehensive income/{expense) EREEMLERE/(XH)
for the year:
Actuarial loss on a defined benefit plan EREAHERERE = - = = = (1,184) (1,184) - (1,184)
Exchange differences on translation of REBNEBZERER
foreign operations - - - - 107,934 - 107,934 2,464 110,398
Total comprehensive income for the year FELARERR - = = — 107934 312315 420309 15,640 435949
Transfer to reserve BREHE - - - 18518 - (18518 - - -
Final 2020 dividend ZSIEERERS 1 - - - - - W wes) - w0
Interim 2021 dividend ZB--5hRE 1 - - - - — (159600 (159600 — (159600,
At 31 March 2021 RZBZ-%£=R=+-H 5,320 566,314* (229 89,860* 40,826* 810,576* 1,512,667 38406 1,551,073
At 1 April 2021 RZS--%MF-H 5,320 566,314 (229) 89,860 40,826 810576 1,512,667 38406 1,551,073
Profit for the year EERA - - - - - 274,633 274,633 7948 282581
Other comprehensive income for the year: EEEMLAKE
Actuarial gain on defined benefit plans EREGERERE - - - - - 7,188 7,188 - 7,188
Exchange differences on translation of REBNEBZERER
foreign operations - - - - 51,827 - 51,827 1,686 53,513
Total comprehensive income for the year FELAKGAE - - - - 51821 282,421 334,248 9634 343,882
Issue of shares Bkt 27 18 7,596 - - - - 7614 - 7614
Transfer to reserve BRTHE - - - 15,010 - (15,010) - - -
Final 2021 dividend ZFZ-EXHRE 11 - - - - - (63,840) (63,840 - (63,840)
Interim 2022 dividend ZFICERBRE " - - - - - (117,040) (117,040) - (117,040)
At 31 March 2022 W-B-Z§=A=t+-A 538 5139100 (200 104870+ 92653  GOLM07* 1673649 48040 1,721,689




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_F-_—F-HA=+—HIFE

2022 2021
k- oo o
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM REXBELEZRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax R 752 A1 338 A 363,938 422,386 =
Adjustments for: BUTEBRE =
Bank interest income SRAT A BN 5 (3.403) (2,881) S
Finance costs &R 6 5,128 5,332 m
COVID-19-related rent 8 A B COVID-1918 1 > =
concessions from a lessor HEER 7 - (733) %
Depreciation of property, plant ME- BERIETE =
and equipment 7 95,808 90,309 £
Depreciation of right-of-use ERBEERE =
assets 7 15,967 14,282 =
Amortisation of intangible B EEEH Z
assets 7 2,821 2,821 2
Loss on disposal and write-off HERMETE  BE K =
of items of property, plant REEEEE R S
and equipment, net 7 267 154 E
Income derived from financial BAFEFGFTABZNER b
assets at fair value through BEFS NG 2
profit or loss 7 (3,442) (2,846) B
477,084 528,824 g
Increase in inventories FEEM (155,881) (2,600) ot
Increase in accounts receivable & Y BR U AN (45,035) (104,102) E
Increase in prepayments, deposits FE{TFIE - & K& ul|
and other receivables B FE I FRIE 18 hn (39,347) (5,500)
Increase in accounts payable JFE < BR FUIE A0 22,846 36,798
Increase/(decrease) in accrued FE 5t & & K& E M FE
liabilities and other payables AR 0GR (10,889) 3,112
Increase in pension scheme BAREETEI&EEM

6,366

I e
-

(24)
10,027

265,043
(5,128)

(32,127)

(51,940)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

BEeRERER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2022
BE_FE__HFZH=+—HIFE

2022 2021

—E-_f B

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 2E FET FET

CASH FLOWS FROM RERETBZHRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

E Proceeds from disposal of items HE¥E  ME&EE
= of property, plant and HEARSRERE
2 equipment, net 2,969 615
m Purchases of items of property, BEYXE KBEKRXREHIEB
.—E'n plant and equipment (124,221) (10,828)
% Addition of leasehold land ANEHEE LT H 14(a) (39,317) —
= Interest received E W F 2 3,403 2,881
£ Income derived from financial BAFEFNETN SR
= assets at fair value through BEMRSKE
= profit or loss 3,442 2,846
= Acquisition of a subsidiary W B — B A E 29 10,583 —
2z Asset acquisition & E K 30 1,088 —
= Increase in non-current portion of & & 3F it & FB 43 1 AN
S deposits (48,236) (14,779)
B Decrease in time deposits with R EG KR ZH B 8@
M original maturity of more than =8B N EHERRD
three months when acquired - 43,778
E Net cash flows from/(used in) RKE(AR)ZEFTEZ
% investing activities Be&RERE (190,289) 24,5613
% CASH FLOWS FROM REMETBZRERE
> FINANCING ACTIVITIES
a Drawdown/(repayment) of bank 2B/ ({#&) RITEF HE
loans, net 197,050 (102,362)
Dividends paid EfKE (180,880) (207,480)
Proceeds from issuance of shares 2%1T &) FTiS3KIE 7,614 —
Principal portion of lease HERBEBLAZIED
payments (8,743) (7,275)

Net cash flows from/(used in) KB (A R SE B I
‘ T [ 15,041
| : I
“ - l“..
442,395 | ’ | |

12,846

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
GERERER (M)

Year ended 31 March 2022

HBF - E-HE=F=f—HIEE

2022 2021
—EBCoCfF —B-—#&
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHBT
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES HERkREEEFEHEEBZ
OF CASH AND RO
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R RIRITHERR 20 425,999 382,634
Non-pledged time deposits with  FREERKIREHH
original maturity of less than AEBB=@EAKN
three months when acquired EIRIFEHER 20 30,459 60,354
Less: Restricted bank balance B Z R IRIT AR 20 (617) (593)
Cash and cash equivalents as MERERERMEAZ
stated in the consolidated HehkREEEEER
statement of cash flows 455,841 442,395
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NOTES T0 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MERRMKE

31 March 2022
¥ —HF=Z/F=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. AAREEER

INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated ARBRNRFASHEFMBRIZERA
in the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of B o &N X & 5 i B 3 B e 3k & Cricket
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands. Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman
The principal place of business of the Company is Islands e AN B Z T EEEMBUNRE
located at Units 0902-0903 and 0905-0906, 9/F, Tower B RERITENE70RES T OBEA
B, Regent Centre, 70 Ta Chuen Ping Street, Kwai Chung, #£0902-0903 % & 0905-0906 = °

New Territories, Hong Kong.

The Group's principal activities are the manufacture and KEBZFEXBREEREEEDR
trading of sportswear and garments. 2K ©
Information about subsidiaries MBARIZER
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as ARNBEENBABFBAOT -
follows:

Place of Percentage of

equity attributable

m
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incorporation/ (01 @unpEny
registration and Issued share/paid-up =
business registered capital AAENE G E 5 b
Name HMRT B&TR1E 2022 2021  Principal activities
RS E kB BREMES e CR - —F FRER
Eagle Nice (EAG) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2; Non-voting deferred 100 100  Investment holding
BE(MEEBBRAA &% HK$10,000 (Note (a)) (2021: REEK
Ordinary HK$2; Non-voting
deferred HK$10,000)
LERET ERFEETR
10,0007 7T (i 5% (a) )
(ZB-—F EER2ET
IR F BT 10,0008 TT)
#E (LEE) HREBRARAF The People's Republic of ~ US$23,500,000 (2021: 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
("YM (Shantou)”) (Note (b)) China ("PRC")/Mainland US$23,500,000) sportswear and
([#a3 ClsR) ) (M= (b)) China 23,500,000% 7T garments
HEARLNE (Z% = —% :23,500,000% 7¢) LEREREDRERAR
(THRE])/ HERE
Eagle Nice Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1 (2021: HKS$1) 100 100  Manufacture and trading of
WEBRERAA & 1BT(ZBZ—F 187) sportswear and

arments

g
SEREEEDHRERAK
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
|NFORMAT|ON (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

Notes to

Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2022
¥ —HF=Z/F=+—H

1. 2EIREEER®

Issued share/paid-up
registered capital

Name MR E&1TRi/

ACIES BRREXME HEFMEE

King Eagle (EAG) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 (2021: HKS$1)
¢E(BEEEBRAT i 1BT(ZB-—F 18T)
ERBEEURERAF PRC/Mainland China US$4,000,000 (2021: US$4,000,000)

("Hung Eagle Garment”) (Note (b))
(FEREM ) (b))

Eagle Nice (Indonesia) Holdings Limited

& (ER) ERERAE

P.T. Eagle Nice Indonesia (“EN Indonesia”)

(TExene))

Eagle Nice (Jiangxi) Garment Limited

X CIA) MRARAA

Bx(HE)RKRERAA
(“EN (Yifeng)") (Note (b))
(M= (E8) ) (HEDb)

PT Gelindo Garmentama (“PGG")
(Note (d)
(MPGG 1) (RIEE(d))

BREBRKRERAA ("Dalian Garment”)
(Notes (b) and (e))
(MEB R (M b Re)

X (8 1l) KA RAF ("Foshan

Garment”) (Notes (b) and (f))
([0 B2% ) (B £ (o) R ()

Notes:

RE/ REAR
Hong Kong
B5E

Indonesia
e

Hong Kong
&

PRC/Mainland China
i/ hEAR

Indonesia

ENfE

PRC/Mainland China
HE,/REAR

PRC/Mainland China
HE R E K

4,000,000 7T
(ZFZ—% :4,000,000% 7T)

HK$1 (2021: HK$1)
BT (ZBZ—F 1ER)

US$32,000,000 (2021:
US$32,000,000)
32,000,000% 7T
(Z®=—% :32,000,000% %)

HK$10,000 (2021: HK$10,000)
10,0003 75
(ZBZ—4 10,000 75)

US$28,000,000 (2021:
US$28,000,000)
28,000,000 7T
(Z®=—4 :28,000,0005% TT)

IDR86,141,155,750 (2021: Nil)
86,141,155,750E0 B &
(ZBZ—F :§)

RMB18,000,000 (2021: Nil)
A R¥#18,000,0007
(CB=—% )

RMB18,000,000 (2021: Nil)
A R #18,000,0007C
(ZB=—% &)

2022
ZEF et

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

FAREGERBE DL

2021  Principal activities
—-F IEXRB

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

WisE -

The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends, (a)

no rights to attend or vote at general meetings and no rights
to receive any surplus assets in a return of capital in a
winding-up (other than the nominal amount paid up or

100  Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LEREREDRERAR

100  Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LEREREBRERAR

100  Investment holding
gl

100  Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LENREEEBRERAR

100  Investment holding

RERK

100  Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LEREREDRERAR

—  Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

SEREREDRERAR

—  Leasing properties
HEME

—  Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LEREREDRERAR

EREREERIEENERES  HE
BREREHAEG LERE  TEELESER
BEAKES

ERREGEECERESR
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEHRMNE(R)
Ll .

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP
|NFORMAT|ON (continued)

All of the above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the
Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

2.1

rEIREEER @

ERFFENBRABRHANBDBERSE -

ERINHARNBDNBLAR  REEERR
o RELADHAEBENEEBEAY
EYBUAEEEEFEZIERD - &
EXERRBA FIHMWBEL DB
EERERRITR -

mRERE
WEVBERRDBRELEEBGAMLE
((BEEEFMAG]) BMzEBEMBERE
HR((FEBEMBREEN D (P EER
BEBMBREEN FBGHEMN(EH
BEAENDRER) BEARGFR
AR EFB(REMEPD) 2 WBRERSE - It
FEMBBERRBEELHNAERER - R
AFEFANBEZNEREERD - LETIR
AFEFE - RBEHEAIN BHEHRKH
BT (8] 25 - MAEEESYEE
AANERBEEZTAL-

mAE#%
REMBRREEARAREWEAA
(B AEEBNDBE_ST__=ZA



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
Ry i

2.1 G EXE )

mEBEEw

AR EEIEEREENRRET R
SEEAMENRNRFE - AFEERRE
HERENTZREHEBRENR  AEEEE
EBFREHBEEENRER 85

(a) HEZEREFTHMEREEEETAN
BHRTH

b) MBHEMENZHAEZENET
&

) AEENREREREBEGERERE-

ME AR mRERKRSHENMBERSE
TN S BEREANEMABIART - i
BRrAZEEUBAEENSEGHEZ
BESEFE  LERREHELILLA®
BERAEFTA -

ARBEEARFERKRREDEIGIE
mREMEEKE S AR BIERL
SIMFERBEREDERAEBTR - F
EERERAZERGMEANEEN
MEERGRE #xm - WA XHRESE
REHNEGGRERESHYEE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
B ()

31 March 2022

TR —H#F=ZH=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 GREE X )
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Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it

SEEE@
HEBERBERLER EXAANZRES
RAEZ-EHZEHRZS AEETE
MAEEESEFHRREAR - WEBAR
B EETEE (REREERHE) &
BaRXBZANER-

fis NS M 2K = B P /B 2 B Z 1= 1) 42 - B3l

derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and BRERIZMNBARDZEE (BEEE) R
liabilities of the subsidiary; (i) the carrying amount of any BB (VEMIFEERERED ZRAEE
non-controlling interest; and (iii) the cumulative RlilGt \#EH Z RFTERELE WMHER

translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received; (ii) the fair value of any investment retained;
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in the income
statement. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to the income statement or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark

(VWERREZXFE ((EAFREREZ
AFE RV ERPEAELEEZ
BBRHERE - FRIR At E R ER
ZAREHEBEBOEMD>EERD RN
BEEd (ER) - MASEEEREHE
HEEEXRBENANR —EEHERD -

22 BRI ERERKIKEEE

AEEERAFENMBRRE KN
UTREIEBMBRELEL -

BEEMBREENSEY FAEFKEE E



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt
with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free
rate ("RFR"). The amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be
updated without adjusting the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities when accounting for
changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of
the interest rate benchmark reform and the new
basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition, the
amendments permit changes required by the
interest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being
discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise
on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and
recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from
having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk
component. The relief allows an entity, upon

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRME(E)
31 March 2022
¥ —HF=Z/F=+—H

22 ETBRERBEEH @

REEBVMBRSEINEERZE
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BUMBRELNBIGRZEBIARE
ERANS —EERRAR([ER
BRAX)BMARBEENXRELERTE
MEBRBZFRAMERT AP IR EE
MREE - ZEITRUTERERS
B RATEHEEEREERAR
NENRERENEESEETE
TRER EFHEEREERE
& B0 AR 10 (B B 7T 383 B PR A 3R - i
ZEHBINRELENEFNERRR
IFEEGHNRERENHTEEER
BLERREESHAORELE -
e oh - BZABRT SO R A R T O R
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEHRMNE(R)
Ll .

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank
borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars
based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") and United States dollars based on the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as at
31 March 2022. Since the interest rates of these
instruments were not replaced by RFRs during the
year, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position and performance of the
Group. If the interest rates of these borrowings are
replaced by RFRs in a future period, the Group will
apply the above-mentioned practical expedient upon
the modification of these instruments provided that
the “economically equivalent” criterion is met.
Additional information about the transition and the
associated risks is disclosed in note 36 to the
financial statements.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021
extends the availability of the practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic by 12
months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies
to rent concessions for which any reduction in
lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the other
conditions for applying the practical expedient are

_“-.T“” is effective retrospe
lllnlliﬁlii _

(a)

(b)
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
Ry i

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 ENfFMERRERNVEEER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING R & A
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

\Ls

AEELRREEMBHRERFERATI
ERMEERERZHIREEBITNE

effective, in these financial statements.

m
8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the BEMBREENEIRE] HRELEL =
Conceptual Framework' f-'T-.’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of BEEUBREENEI0RR REZLRFELTAE %
and HKAS 28 (2011) Assets between an EEGEHAERI B85 ErEZENEELE %
Investor and its Associate (ZB——F) B3] BEE g
or Joint Venture® £
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? BEUBREENER  RESH =
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®® BEMBREENER  RESH S g
37 5
Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS EEMBREENEITR  TBREFAEEUBEREE =
17 and HKFRS 9 — (EH) BIZ175 R E BB B =
Comparative Information® EEAEIE — HRE “
e -
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities BEGHENERBT BEAERTGAFEN =
as Current or Non- 5B
current®* %)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting BEENEIREIR BHHERE ﬁ
HKFRS Practice Statement Policies? EEMBEREENEER o
2 S50% s
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting B YR ER ER BT Bl AT E R
Estimates?
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to BEGHENERET E-XFELZEERE

Assets and Liabilities
arising from a S/'ng/e

BHBREEL -

BB R

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY

o ———



(237 8 B30 2 (S5 PEl) SE B QILININ SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3IIN 319V3

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY

e — -

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2022
¥ HF=Z/F=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October
2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39
rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before
1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have a significant
impact on the Group's results of financial performance
and financial position.

2.3
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

[ T
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in the income statement as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment Ioss is recognised An

EBAHREE (@)

BENLTRRAGE HEHEERE B
ERAFEERBRREEZEBREEER
BEFBURBHERRAERZ 2 X F(ER
B OBHARBABNEERAE&SR
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RIS HERR - BERBABEA R
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HEREMARAUBRANEBTREE
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AEER=ZB=+T—HBABEETEFE
AR - BETREAS  REBGH
TEAZBEEKRBEHRSEERS
AREHELEZBRARETEDZZAE
ERREELBUNBEEELEECER
MAwmEAEEHEMEENEBERSED
REZFEMHEMAR -

BEDEAFEEBEEHZIREEL
Bu(XREELBMAR) 2T KEE
HEE BERTELBU(RREELE
fiz 48 Al) Z 7T W [B] & 28 1 1A BR [ 1B s - %
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

AT EFE @
FERMBRRABEAKRBELAFENE
ERBEDERHAFEAEZEEREMS
BEANRKEINBABBEZUTAF
BFRDE

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in F—Hk — REEMSPEREER
active markets for identical assets or EBENBZRECGRLER
liabilities )

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which FHR — UEHAFEFEBEAN
the lowest level input that is significant SIS TN S €=
to the fair value measurement is XEEEENGEAE
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which F=H — NEAFEFEBERN
the lowest level input that is significant £ 16 4% 5l i \ 2098 1 T8
to the fair value measurement is M HERE

unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

MREEEEERNVBERRERNEE
RAEMS  AEEEBREREHRE
MAEDE(ERHAFEFAERENS
BEANRRRNGABRB) EERER
ERNEFREE -



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories and financial assets), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-generating
unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
MBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

TR —H#F=ZH=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEEHHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management

FEREERE R
REBESHARFEE ST RE T UEHE
REEBRETNBEEXATREERED - f§H
BEARR MEEAUROEE - B
DA E & E A K E & B Et S Eh
EHHEBNEEREGR(BERKRMN A
AEE - EEEENSERTBRBRESF
EitERZEEERIREBEMETE
REREE (I FREMITE B IH1R) - B
WREBERELARBFAKRER -

FEAL
ETHERLT  ARALREREAER
BEE -

(@) BAEALTHZATZERLE M
ZHaANE

() EHHEREHAER
(i) HAEEEERLEN K

(i) AREAEEXAFAEEFAAEE




2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Related parties (continued)
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

MK BERRBERITE &)

ME BERSBEFRMEERS  f
MEBRREER  —RREEEREL
BB RE R - AT S RERBEGFNE
T ARERRNERAREENIREE
BERALRER - HYE BERRKBENE
RN ADRER  AEERZFEHNE
RRABUEE IREFTENAERFH
BEEHE -

MEREEYME  BERREZ G AE
BEHUEREMEEREAZEEFGRE
B -RUENARBZEZFERNMT

Buildings 30 to 50 years BF 30FE504F
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the HEmEEE ZHEHE20%
lease terms and 20% (UREERE)
Plant and machinery 10% to 20% & 5 Tk 1 2R 10% ZE20%
Furniture, fixtures, equipment 20% RE -HE XEK 20%
and motor vehicles HE



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the income
statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery and other items of property, plant and
equipment under construction or installation, which are
stated at cost less any impairment losses, and are not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
purchase, construction, installation and testing and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction or installation.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Customer relationship is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of 6 years.

Backlog is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 1
year.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to

)
)

\ |
i \

BEEE (BERMN)
EBENSHNENEERBRAETARE
B -EXBAHTHNSNENEERARE
EHNATE BEREENUERERD
RHEMRVERRTML - FHRNERE
EHREROEREEFREE - LREH
KRETETVEEVRRERFGHRER
B AHRNEVEEBEHREBHETA
AZVREAMBFERETRY -

=5 BRI A A R S8 R (A S
1B FIBE - MY U B R I EL A 3 AT 6
FHICE R -

R 5E ARG [ T #% B A R R 5 8K K R (E
BEIB5UER - B DIERARHMA AE
REMEHE-

HE

FEERGHNRBEKILEHNREAH
EREaEE HENEFR-—REERN
A= B B3R & E RSN DUREA

P

% control the use of an identified asset for a period of time B AzeAHExEaHEE-
5 in exchange for consideration
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TEGHERME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued) HE#®
Group as a lessee (continued) FEEERZAEN (&)
At inception or on reassessment of a contract that ERBREMIHESHEEARBI R
contains a lease component and a non-lease component, FHEERLINELOE  REBRAT
the Group adopts the practical expedient not to separate TEEEAE WMADFAIEEEABRILS -
the non-lease component and to account for the lease HEMARS P EBEFENIEEEART D
component and the associated non-lease component (Y EHENYEEERE) S1EE—
(e.g., property management services for leases of THEAREBI N -

properties) as a single lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEEZE

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the ERAEEETREER®KHE (BNHE
commencement date of the lease (that is the date AEENHRERNBE) BER - EA
the underlying asset is available for use). BEEZRBRAREMRBITE RME
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any R EBEE W EMER
accumulated depreciation and any impairment EHEaEFHRAE FHREESE
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of BAGEERREEAEESHE 1
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets PEEXEERARRERBHAR
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, Z BIE B A & {4 BUBAE Al B IR
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments THERE - FRHESEENREEMRE
made at or before the commencement date less KGRI E A F R (DLRE & R %)
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets RESENE AT :

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3

are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 24 to 60 years HE L 24FE 604
Plant 2 to 6 years % B 2E6LE

2, Bl{E RS E
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

HERXWE(E)
Y =i B

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGFBRBE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinved
Leases (continued) HE#®
Group as a lessee (continued) FEBEERZABEN B
m (b) Lease liabilities b) HEEME
E Lease liabilities are recognised at the HEaGrEHERAEUEEERN
2 commencement date of the lease at the present BFEENHEEMRNVIRERR -
E value of lease payments to be made over the lease HEMREREEEMR (BEEEE
5 term. The lease payments include fixed payments EMR)BEMNEKEEESR  ER
% (including in-substance fixed payments) less any RS E R AT 2 FE & A SR AR ER
= lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments EEERTHNESRXGHIE - M
= that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts ERMRAEEIETEALE A
:VOE expected to be paid under residual value HEMRTEEITSEEEHEASE
g guarantees. The lease payments also include the BiITEEEENTEEMAKILRE
2 exercise price of a purchase option reasonably EMXAER - FEERIEHF
= certain to be exercised by the Group and payments KA SEEMNFSERE GRS
E of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease HE R EEAERER AT -
= term reflects the Group exercising the option to
P terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
i recognised as an expense in the period in which
gg the event or condition that triggers the payment
ot occurs.
A
L;‘j In calculating the present value of lease payments, EFEHEMNRNIRER EHHEE
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at FESNFMERZFEE  ANEEE
the lease commencement date because the AEHERBBENIESERFIE.
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily EHKRBER HEABESERK T
determinable. After the commencement date, the MURRA SRR 3 EED
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect EEMRERD - thoh - IR

the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease B HEREASL HEGR

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY

e m—- -



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRME(E)
31 March 2022
¥ —HF=Z/F=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TEEHBEBME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Leases (continued) HE®)

Group as a lessee (continued) FEEERZAEN (&)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value (c) *HHERKREEBEEHE
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition AEBBEHHERRBREEAR
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery BERZENTPHEEEIEHEA
and equipment (that is those leases that have a ENHERARBREETZEAR
lease term of 12 months or less from the T B R EEEERERE) - 2
commencement date and do not contain a REHAMEAREARENRERE
purchase option). It also applies the recognition EEMEE -

exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment.

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of EHRHEERREEEEHENHEES
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on HRERNEHENZRERERIREAX
a straight-line basis over the lease term. H e
Investments and other financial assets BEERHMhERMEE
Initial recognition and measurement L EERGE
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as SRMEETEVBERRIDEAERR
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value BHRA BATFETAEMEEKRE N
through other comprehensive income, and fair value RN FEEFTANEB -

through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition EMEETEVBERFNDEECRRE
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow EHNHEREFBURAEBREEZS
characteristics and the Group’s business model for SHMEENEBRER - EFRESEEME
managing them. With the exception of accounts B 20 B E I BR T 3K A £ (3] T IR UK R TE R

receivable that do not contain a significant financing HNAREERMERDZENITER
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the income
statement.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
also recognised as other income in the income
statement when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for
credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are more than 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)
Debt investments at fair value through other

comprehensive i
cost are subje

ncome and financial assets at amortised
ct to impairment under the general

approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for accounts
receivable which apply the simplified approach as

detailed below.

Stage 1 —

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge,
as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value

and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the income statement when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
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finance costs in the income statement.
Derecognition of financial liabilities FIBREREREE

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside the income
statement is recognised outside the income statement,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and ﬁractices
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
the same taxable entity.

Government grants

Government grants, including a subsidy for the
expenditure incurred in the construction cost of an
infrastructure project, are recognised at their fair value
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

Revenue from the sale of sportswear and garments and
provision of related subcontracting services is recognised
at the point in time when control of the assets or
services is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of sportswear and garments.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’'s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

In addition, the Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Scheme”)
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the
Retirement Scheme. Contributions to the Retirement
Scheme are charged to the income statement as
incurred. The Retirement Scheme operates in a similar
way to the MPF Scheme, except that when an
employee leaves the Retirement Scheme before his/her
interest in the Group’s employer contributions vests fully,
the ongoing contributions payable by the Group are
reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
employer contributions.

The employees of the Group’'s subsidiaries which
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Employee benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plans

The Group operates defined benefit plans for the
employees of its subsidiaries in Indonesia through
unfunded pension plans. The cost of providing benefits
under the defined benefit plans is determined using the
projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit
pension plans, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest) and the
return on plan assets (excluding net interest), are
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to
retained profits through other comprehensive income in
the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to the income statement in subsequent
periods.

Past service costs are recognised in the income
statement at the earlier of:

o the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to
the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group

comices tre foowng chenges n the et o
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company's memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company's functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the
income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The
gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or the income statement is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or the
income statement, respectively).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their income statements are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’'s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, their
accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’'s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgement, apart from those involving estimations, which
have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue recognition from sale of sportswear
and garments and provision of related
subcontracting services with no alternative use
at a point in time

The Group determines at contract inception whether it
transfers to customers the control of its sportswear and
garments over time or at a point in time in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Management's assessment process
involves significant judgements in determining whether
the Group’s sale of sportswear and garments and
provision of related subcontracting services create assets
with no alternative use and has an enforceable right to
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2022 was
HK$104,076,000 (2021: HK$100,334,000). Further details
are given in note 16 to the financial statements.

Business combination

When the Group completes a business combination, the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
are recognised at their fair value. Management
estimation is required to determine the fair values of the
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and the

EEGFHHE R @

etz FHEE
TX@mARBEHARBAIREENEEH
BERAEET - MREFEFTEHFLE
RABZARKEAEZERR R SR
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HEZERERNEZRE -BER_-E
—__H#=B=1+—HBzZKREMESR
104,076,000/ 7t (ZE = —% :100,334,000
BIT) c E— L ERENMBIRERMEE16 -
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MNEERFAAEZEBEREQFERESRS -
EEEREEMBBEE MAR&RE.
BEREBEZATE URSETHRINEE
hafEzBERAERAMFHE - RIKE



OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group determines that
there are five reportable operating segments, based on
the locations of customers (the destinations of sales),
including Mainland China, the United States of America
(the "USA"), Europe, Japan and others. These segments
are managed separately as each segment is subject to
risks and returns that are different from one another.

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax
is measured consistently with the Group's profit before
tax except that interest income and other unallocated
income and gains, and unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.

4,
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|0N (continued)

REDHEER &

2022 —_sg-
Mainland
China USA Europe Japan Others Consolidated
AR K =HE BR M HEX EHfE Ra
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT
Segment revenue: DEEERA ¢
Sales to external HEFHIRRER
customers 1,882,199 674,677 644,081 84,076 383,338 3,668,371
Segment results DEEE 309,202 116,948 115,534 14,389 59,042 615,115
Interest income and FE WA R E AR
other unallocated HEWA R
income and gains 20,471
Unallocated expenses  F&REXH (271,648)
Profit before tax B 762 i 4 7 363,938
Income tax expense Fiefpx (81,357)
Profit for the year FEEHF 282,581
Segment assets NEEE 1,227,359 325,896 477,366 92,594 435,256 2,558,471
Unallocated assets RREEE 566,931
3,125,402
Segment liabilities NEEE 370,179 62,664 84710 18403 85,826 621,782
Unallocated liabilities KR aE 781,931
1,403,713

Other segment Hit M EER -

18,585

14,761 1,691

wn e [

15,603

35,498
114,596
122,469 218,889

84,831
303,720
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Other segment

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEREER @
|NFORMAT|0N (continued)
2021 B4
Mainland
China USA Europe Japan Others  Consolidated m
PR A RE %£H BUM HA HfithE BRE :",I-:
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 =
FHET FET FET FET FHET FHET =)
Segment revenue: NEERKBN =
Sales to external HEFHNRRR %
customers 1,612,824 663,266 488,355 98,781 385,649 3,248,875 g
=
Segment results NEEE 300,773 137,181 80,667 16,465 84,071 619,157 E
oy
Interest income and FEWMAREME =
other unallocated A O =
income and gains 39,696 2
Unallocated expenses  F&REXH (236,467) =
Profit before tax B0 03 A 422,386 S
Income tax expense Fiefpx (95,651) ﬁ
Profit for the year FEEHF 326,735 B
Segment assets NEEE 1,134,489 267,583 305,573 45,820 236,284 1,989,749 B
i
Unallocated assets RELEE 582,888 &
2,572,637 »
Segment liabilities HEEHE 276,761 59,108 54474 12554 49,973 452,870 %
Unallocated liabilities b =L 568,694
1,021,564
Hth B8N -
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BENEER @
|NFORMAT|0N (continued)
Geographical information — non-current assets WEERN — ERBHEE

2022 2021
m —E-—f —s-—#
= HK$000 HK$'000
= FET FET
% Hong Kong 58 35,385 21,369
g Mainland China e PN 1,003,509 815,168
= Indonesia ElfE 220,237 147,251
)% Vietnam HE 41,072 40,009
E 1,300,203 1,023,797
=]
§ The non-current asset information above is based on the IR EEEN CREEMEHE
= locations of the assets and excludes goodwill. ElNES FEEHE-
=
] Information about major customers FRETEEFNEH
Revenue derived from sales to customers which HEWMAREHAEFEZEEBAI0%
= amounted to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group MEMNZEFOT :
[ is as follows:
5
% 2022 2021
L;‘j B F —E - —4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FET
Customer A ZEA 2,510,647 2,244,276
Customer B =FB 514,312 496,124

Customer C Eﬁc 435,907 N/A A3E B *
3,460,866

|
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 5. & Ig A\ RH g\ KK
GAINS, NET 0 JREA

An analysis of revenue is as follows: EEIANZAITAT -

2022 2021
—E--fF —E-—f -
HK$’000 HK$'000 8
FET FHBT =
=
Revenue from contracts with REEEFEHMNEEIRAN m
customers =
— sale of sportswear and garments ~ — E B AR 35 KX B K & z
and provision of related I % 12 4 48 §
subcontracting services 2 ERE 3,668,371 3,248,875 =
z
S
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFAHNERKRA 5
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) PEEFEKUAZH =
S
2022 2021 =
k- =Sl - B —F b
HK$"000 HK$'000 %
TFET FHT %
Types of goods or services HmERBRER ﬁ
Sale of sportswear and garments EEIREREXEE 3,660,825 3,248,875 =
Subcontracting services 6 R % 7,546 — E
3,668,371 3,248,875
Geographical markets M [ T 35

Mainland China A (5] K s 1,882,199 1,612,824

El 674,677 663,26
------- 4 84,076 8,781
‘ 383,338 ‘

3,668,371
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 5.

GA'NS, NET (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information
(continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that
were included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period:

EEIMANRE MW R
B8

KEEFGHNERREAN®

(i) DBEERBRAEH &)

TRITRBSHDTAGHERE
ZABEHBERBERERAZSE
%

2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT TET

Revenue recognised that was
included in contract liabilities at
the beginning of the reporting
period:

Sale of sportswear and garments EEHAR 4 & B K $H &

RESHAFAGHEE
ZEERBERKA ¢

2,420 s

(ii) Performance obligation

Sale of sportswear and garments and
provision of related subcontracting services
The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the sportswear and garments and
payment is generally due within one to three

{ provi nractr
e i =
! |

(ii) BRIEEF
EERIER LR E UK FE 1T
B R BRE
BB ER RN ZE B AR & B R
TR MAR—REXINER-—FE=
8B REH -
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 5. & IRAKRE MBI R

GAINS, NET (continuea) E ’ i%ﬁ(%)
An analysis of other income and gains, net, is as HMKARIKE  FEZOMAT -
follows:

2022 2021 m

s F —F - —F E

HK$'000 HK$'000 ;

FH T =

Bank interest income RITF B UAN 3,403 2,881 E
Income derived from financial assets & A FEANETH %
at fair value through profit or loss SHEERBKZE 3,442 2,846 =
Government grants* BT/ &> 12,303 32,217 §
Loss on disposal and write-off of HERMEDE  BE K %
items of property, plant and HEIEBZEE T8 S
equipment, net (267) (154) é
Others Hb 1,590 1,906 =
20,471 39,696 5

m

g Various government grants have been received by certain & AEEETRPBERERILZHBAFE %
subsidiaries of the Group established in Mainland China for BEBNHES M EERETERERT =
promoting the manufacturing industry and maintaining the (¥R -HE_Z_—F=A=+—HLE 5B
employment rate. During the year ended 31 March 2021, E AEEETRESEMBRIIZHEL Iy
government subsidies under the COVID-19 relief scheme had B INES COVID-194F 42 51 I IE T Z U 1 &

also been received by certain subsidiaries of the Group Bl o 3% 5 1/ Bh & 7 £ 14 2R 2 AR YIRS 4B af
incorporated in Hong Kong. There are no unfulfilled conditions B AEE - §

or contingencies relating to these grants. pj

6. FINANCE COSTS 6. FRERRAE

2022

I e A S S I N B =8==%

HK$°000
FET
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRBEEF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBBRBENEFLINBR (TN TII&
(crediting): HERF/E

2022 2021
- —s-—#% —Em-—f
8 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TERT FET
E Cost of inventories sold and EEFERRHDBRE
.—E'n subcontracting services provided A 3,018,152 2,596,468
% Auditor’s remuneration 1% BB B <& 4,372 3,848
§ Depreciation of property, plant and  #¥% BB &EZEITE
= equipment (note 13)* (BFz£13) * 95,808 90,309
z Depreciation of right-of-use assets {EFREEENE
S (note 14(a))* (M E14(a)) 15,967 14,282
3 Amortisation of intangible assets EmREEEN(ME17)
S (note 17) 2,821 2,821
o Employee benefit expenses BEEAXE (FERESEK
- (excluding directors’ and chief THAHME — kS -
hid executive's remuneration —
note 8):
b Wages and salaries ITERF® 835,089 710,043
gg Pension contributions, including BARSHET 8FER
of pension cost for defined benefit E R E B ARE
E plans of HK6,366,000 (2021: X 746,366,0007& TC
aj HK$1,165,000) (note 25) (ZFZ—4 :1,165,000
B IT) (M EE25) 138,605 98,598
Less: Forfeited contributions” B BB MR - —
Net pension contributions BARBHEFEE 138,605 98,598
Total employee benefit expenses* REERM X 973,694 808,641

o2 @/
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 7. BRBENEN @
A There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the A MEAEEFAEEITEANBRKESH®HZR
Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of KEZERBHER -

contributions.

i Included in the respective balances are the following amounts * BEEERBEUTHALXAREEER
which are also included in the cost of inventories sold ERAZEHE - ;
disclosed above: ]
m
=
2022 2021 f:,
—EBo_f & =
HK$°000 HK$'000 =]
F#T Tz z
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERZBINE §
equipment 64,012 59,214 =
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERSE 14,811 13,644 %
Employee benefit expenses EERH X H 841,980 689,991 =)
Lease payments not included in the TEANHEREFEN 5
measurement of lease liabilities HE XA 350 124 2
COVID-19-related rent concessions from a 3 AFtCOVID-19418 [ = %
lessor HEER - (733) S
o
b
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. BEERFRESBHS :
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION 5
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the AEEEERTRESZNESRES B ﬁ
year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the ERXRGHERATRZES FHmHN( EH =
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong #H| ) BB 3 & 1) 5$383(1)(a) - ?
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), b - CORHMERAD (KBEEFKSE &

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and B IREI S22 EAT

Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022

S A A S O s
5 v s e
FERT

ees .

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY
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1 December 2020.

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EFNITHEHRME =

EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BWILEHTES

The fees paid to independent non-executive FRANFREIERTESEZHEN

m directors during the year were as follows: T @
8
; 2022 2021
S —BC-_F B —F
= HK$'000 HK$'000
3 T#&ET TET
= —
=2 Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho RERTE 242 181
= Mr. Lu Chi Chant EMEEE 242 181
E= Ms. Tham Kit Wan FEREEwL 242 181
g Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong* R #EF4E* 242 73
% 968 616
=
o
= There were no other emoluments payable to the FRNEEAEMEMSEIIFENTES
b independent non-executive directors during the year ZHE(ZEZ—F &)
b (2021: Nil).
i & Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong was appointed as an 2 RPRELER_ZSBEF+A—
gé independent non-executive director of the Company on HEZERAALBBILIENTES -
o
W
>
]

(b) Executive directors (b) MITES

Salaries,

allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration

e BER BIkE
e ENEN Mg sHEI R MEaE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EFRITHEHRME
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION
(continued)
(b) Executive directors (continued) (b) MITEHE#H)
Salaries, m
allowances Pension B
and benefits  Discretionary scheme Total m
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration CE,
e 5?3@& BiRE m
e ENER Wi BE NG &R =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 5
THET TET THET THET TET E
2021 “E-— % E
Executive directors: HITES : £
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing**  $EB fF &4 ** = 3,957 3,902 548 8,407 3
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying BN EE = 3,710 3,823 514 8,047 S
Mr. Huang Yongbiao ~ EXEA%E — 2,602 3,232 276 6,110 5
Ms. Chen Fang Mei, BEEZL =
Christina — 2,668 168 305 3,141 %
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung" BEEREE — 292 17 = 309 S
Mr. Chung Chi Kit® EEGLLe = 490 = 74 564 -
Mr. Hu Chia-Ho® HEMLEe — 98 2 — 100 s
Mr. Hu Dien Chien* A BR R o A = 181 - = 181 B
— 13,998 11,144 1,717 26,859 @
o
**  Mr. Chung Yuk Sing is also the Chairman and the Chief > EEARETAFTRABDERRITH ﬁ
Executive Officer of the Company. o =
>
" Mr. Shih Chih-Hung was appointed as an executive 8 MEREER_S_FFMA—H el
director of the Company on 1 April 2020. BEZEREARBNTES -
e Mr. Chung Chi Kit and Mr. Hu Chia-Ho were appointed e EEGEEERBEMNEENR S
as executive directors of the Company on 1 December SE+_F—HEZEREAAH
2020. TE=E-

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three (2021: three) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining two (2021: two)
non-director, highest paid employees for the year ended
31 March 2022 are set out below:

LeREHMES

£p BERBFWERSE=4(CF
S—F ZR)EE EMESFHN
BEE L XHESHE - RBE- S
F=ZA=+—ALFERN BTMEA(C
S ML) BREFHOFEERS
PMSEENT -

2022 2021
—E-C—& -5
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EEREYET

in kind 5,487 5,327
Discretionary bonuses )15 76 AL 2,419 1,907
Pension scheme contributions PERY NS B 760 738

8,666 7,972

The number of non-director, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

MENFUTHEENRSHFMIFEESER
BENHBWT -

Number of employees

EESHE

2022 2021
B —B-—%&

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017# 7T E1,500,0007 T - —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T E2,000,0007 7T - —
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 JT £2,500,000% JT - —

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 JT £3,000,0007% JT

-
1.

N -




10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits
of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2021: 8.25%) and
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere
have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
being effective on 1 January 2008, the corporate income
tax rate for all enterprises in Mainland China is 25%.

Moreover, under the relevant tax laws and regulations in
Mainland China, a company may set off losses incurred
by it in a financial year against profits made by it in the
succeeding financial year or years, subject to a maximum
of five financial years.

In addition, Vietnam corporate tax has been provided at
the rate of 20% (2021: 20%) and the Indonesia corporate
tax has been provided at the rate of 22% (2021: 22 %)
on the estimated assessable profits.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

T —H#F=ZH=+—H

10. FR1S 1

EN - FEMNERREESBSEENGRE
A LI65% (ZB - —4F :16.5%)
MEIEEE EAEE—RBHRBAT AT
BIREMAHNE EREEIRI - ZH B
A B B2,000,0008 TT(Z & = — £F
2,000,000 7T) FE R M #)1%8.256% (=&
Z—% :8.25% ) MELR - MERTEZRR
A BIR16.5% (ZEZ—F :16.5% )
YK Hfth A ERREANNRIE - 8
REAEEXBAERRNETRES
g o

RER-ZFF/N\E-—A-—BHERNTE
EERBKRE  PEAEMBEEENEE
PRSI ER25% °

o RBERNPERNEREERE
8 —RABURKER—EMBRFEFEEE
ZEE  REERER—ERZEMBEF
EZ#EM ERZATSEBLEYMKE
o

4 BEABDRE20% (ZFEZ—F ¢
20% ) MEEEE  MENEA TR ILMET
FEREMEBN 2% (ZFEZ—F :122%)
MEERE -

2022 2021

- = Joln - 3 s
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT

19,763
58,803

340
2,451

81,357

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2022
¥ HF=Z/F=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. RIS H @
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit BARUARBRERE D HE AR
before tax using the statutory rates for the tax ENREAEEEREEREFEZRR
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of AaEf 2 MEXHERERERIFEZ
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the MEXHZEHERAOT

effective tax rate is as follows:

5
Fn 2022 2021
S —E-_fF s %
= HK$'000 HK$'000
3 FET FET
g Profit before tax B 5 8 S 7 363,938 422,386
§ Tax at the applicable rates to profit in X BRI 5 A & H 5]
2 the tax jurisdictions concerned BRAZREFEZRIE 80,075 91,361
= Adjustments in respect of current tax b8 1E & EEIHA R IE 1F H
2 of previous years EE 340 —
% Income not subject to tax BEBRZEA (3,285) (1,900)
S Expenses not deductible for tax AORzER 5,453 5,004
b Effect of withholding tax on the AREBZHEKHE L
b distributable profits of the Group’s Al 2k Al FEIN IR 2 52 &
% PRC subsidiaries 1,000 3,858
o Temporary differences not RERORER
&3 recognised (2,226) (859)
g Tax losses from previous periods HAEFHERESEE
I utilised - (1,897)
o Tax losses not recognised RERRIERIB - 84
Tax charge at the Group's effective ZAEBERREFEZ
rate I 81,357 95,651

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

T —H#F=ZH=+—H

11. DIVIDENDS 1. &2

2022 2021

—E-CfE —Eo—f

HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET FHT o
Dividends paid during the year: FNEMEE : f,—:
Final in respect of the financial year #BE_Z_-—4%F CE,
ended 31 March 2021 — HK12 —B=+—HLEUWBREE m
cents (2021: HK9 cents) per REBEES — ERTEE é
ordinary share 128 (ZBZ—F - %
9B A) 63,840 47,880 §
Interim — HK22 cents (2021: HK30 HHKE — SREER =
cents) per ordinary share 2BW(ZFZ—4F : S
3035 1L) 117,040 159,600 S
180,880 207,480 &
Proposed final dividend: BIRRIBKE - %

HK14 cents (2021: HK12 cents) per & E & 148 L

ordinary share (ZEZ—F 1278 74,732 63,840 ﬁ
]
The proposed final dividend for the year is based on the AEEZRIRABPEESTIIRRES B kL
number of shares of the Company in issue as at the KRB EBTZERMNEEFE  LAFA g
reporting date, and is subject to the approval of the NEABREREERFEBEFAGHERA )
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual AMEE o 25 M B3R R 8 & BLE 5 R B E
general meeting. These financial statements do not B2 - Iy

reflect the final dividend payable.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

12. X BHEARBESRET

BEEHE— & 70 1H0dIH TYNNNY




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MERRME(E)

31 March 2022
- _F=Z/F=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ * B &% &

Furniture,

fixtures,
Leasehold Plant and equipment and Construction
Buildings improvements machinery motor vehicles in progress

A

= HER  BE-Bf
[ BF HENRLE e RiRE ERIRE it
2 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e TET TET TERT FTERT TER THT
= 31 March 2022 k- o2
2 =B=+-A
E Cost: B :
o At 1 April 2021 RIS-Z—-&EWmBE—H 795,502 259,218 416,929 108,904 - 1,580,553
§ Acquisition of a subsidiary W — K E A A
= (note 29) (Bt¥29) 16,584 125 8,097 798 386 25,990
=) Asset acquisition (note 30) EE W (fEE30) 42,848 - 7,844 922 - 51,614
g Additions NE 5,636 17,879 30,608 6,554 78,323 139,000
2 Disposals HE - (49) (11,185) (1,250) - (12,484)
= Write-off g - - (30) - - (30)
=
= Transfers = 63,634 - 385 - (64,019) -
S Exchange realignment ERAE 29,338 9,381 12,305 2,991 269 54,284
b} At 31 March 2022 R_B-_#F
i3 =ZA=t—H 953,542 286,554 464,953 118,919 14,959 1,838,927
= Accumulated depreciation: ZENE :
% At 1 April 2021 RZBEZ—-EWMA—H 231,464 163,496 272,350 84,252 - 751,562
B Provided during the year FEREE (HEE7)
% (note 7) 26,854 27,200 31,778 9,976 - 95,808
at Disposals HE - (6) (8,090) (1,182) - (9,278)
E Exchange realignment R AR 8,399 6,118 7,803 2,278 - 24,598
e
ull At 31 March 2022 RZBZ_F
ZA=+—-H 266,717 196,808 303,841 95,324 - 862,690
Net book value: BREEME -

At 31 March 2022 RZFZ_F

.~ ZB=+-8 686,825 161,112 o627

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ » B R E @

(continued)

Furniture,
fixtures,
equipment m
Leasehold Plant and and motor P
Buildings improvements machinery vehicles Total o
Ka- S
BER 2B 36 =
BT AEDEEE B RSE @t =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 %
FERT FERT FET BT FERT =
=
31 March 2021 —B--%£=H=+-H E
Cost: A ,c:c_':>
At 1 April 2020 RIFZFFEMA—H 743,901 235,590 393,605 101,385 1,474,481 %
Additions NE = 7,186 15,226 2,184 24,596 3
Disposals HE - — (6,481) (23) (6,504) =
Write-off 4 = - (6,847) = (6,847) =
Exchange realignment ERRE 51,601 16,442 21,426 5,358 94,827
At 31 March 2021 RIFZ—F=A=+—H 795,502 259,218 416,929 108,904 1,580,553 ﬁ
Accumulated depreciation: RERE - @
At 1 April 2020 RIFZFFMA—H 192,371 129,252 241,343 70,952 633,918 @
Provided during the year En e (HEE7) H%
(note 7) 25,403 24,573 30,666 9,667 90,309 ot
Disposals e = - (6,727) ®) (5,735) A
Write-off s = = (6,847) B (6,847) o
Exchange realignment ERRE 13,690 9,671 12,915 3,641 39,917
At 31 March 2021 RZB-_-#=A=+—H 231,464 163,496 272,350 84,252 751,562
Net book value:

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY
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14. LEASES 14. HE
The Group as a lessee AEEEREBEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of land AEBREEREE THEL MR IR
and plant used in its operations. Lump sum payments EHENHESL -HELHERE—XRE
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the RAIXMHBEAMERESE - HEN
m owners with lease periods of 24 to 60 years, and no F24E60F  RBZEF L HBEERRK &
2 ongoing payments will be made under the terms of BAFEXMNHEMNE - TREENHES
E these land leases. Leases of plant generally have lease NF2EF - —RM s AEBEATEA
" terms of 2 to 6 years. Generally, the Group is restricted SEMINTEHERDPHBEEESE - HF
= from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside —THEGNHEEHERIERE -
g the Group. There is a lease contract that includes an
g extension option.
=
=z (a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEZE
g The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use FRNAEEFERAEEENRAER
2 assets and the movements during the year are as ZgEOT -
= follows:
o
O
Leasehold
ﬁ land Plant Total
HE i THR et
B HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
[ TET TET TFET
ﬁ At 1 April 2020 —Z-FFMA—H 156,801 13,718 170,519
z Additions RE — 2,565 2,565
] Depreciation charge (note 7) &R X (MF5E7) (6,213) (8,069) (14,282)
Exchange realignment BE &2 S 2 10,160 486 10,646
At 31 March 2021 and RIBZ—F
1 April 2021 ZA=+—-BX
/mA—H 160,748 8,700 169,448

Acquisition of a subsidiary W BE — R B B A &

0 36,158 - 36,158
. 11,641 - 11,641
Ad AD 39,317 21,114 60,431

(7,041) (8,926) (15,967)
5,929 332 6,261

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY
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14. LEASES (continvea) 14. *ﬂg%"?)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEEAERBEAN®
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FNHESENREBEREEHNT -

movements during the year are as follows:

m
8
2022 2021 ;
o Jefent-- —mo—f 5
HK$°000 HK$'000 %
TERT FET 3
Carrying amount at 1 April REA—HZKRAEE 9,092 14,029 ?,
Additions RE 21,114 2,565 =
Accretion of interest recognised  F NI REIEF R %
during the year (note 6) (fF5E6) 587 449 %
COVID-19-related rent concessions HFH AFCOVID-1918Ed 2 7]
from a lessor HEER - (733) =
Payments RE (9,330) (7,724) =
Exchange realignment BE & A B 348 506 -
Carrying amount at 31 March R=BA=+—Hz b
IR {8 21,811 9,092 %
Analysed into: ki I
Current portion BOHAEB 7 9,713 3,406 ﬁ
Non-current portion JEENEAEB 72 12,098 5,686 @
it

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed HEaBEIHE 2 TRMBRERK

in note 36 to the financial statements. FF36H & o

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
MBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

TR —H#F=ZH=+—H

14. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)

(d)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated income
statement in relation to leases are as follows:

14. HE »

FEEEREBEA®E
(c) REEREREILEBERTHNE
BOT -

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#&ET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEsGNR 587 449
Depreciation charge of right-of-use {FREZEENER X
assets 15,967 14,282
Expense relating to short-term EREBHEEZRX
leases (included in cost of sales)  (Ft ASHE R A) 350 124
COVID-19-related rent concessions HFH A COVID-19
from a lessor HEZHEER - (733)
Total amount recognised in the RiZE A RERHN
consolidated income statement iR 16,904 14,122
Extension option (d) EFHEEE

The Group has a lease contract that includes an
extension option. This option is negotiated by
management to provide flexibility in managing the
leased-asset portfolio and it is aligned with the
Group's business needs. Set out below is the
undiscounted potential future rental payments
relating to periods following the exercise date of
the extension option that are not included in the
I rm :

rEBE-AESHNEEEEEE
B-ZEERHEEEER /E
HHEEEHEARMEENE W6
EEAEENEBTE - TRHS!
REANHEREREREERITE
HIUZEBERQIR 2 BERRE
BEfK
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15. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 15. FERTFRIE « IR R HME I
OTHER RECEIVABLES 15

2022 2021
—EC-_fF 5 &

Note HK$'000 HK$'000 m

(i3 FHT FHEIT 8

m

Prepayments 8 T B 61,233 49,936 =
Deposits and other receivables & K B E W FRIE 116,926 47,871 m
Amount due from a director EW—BEERE (i) 8,867 — =
X

187,026 97,807 =

Less: Non-current portion of B OBEYE - BB %
deposits for purchases of KEEEE N =

items of property, plant JEENEAER =

and equipment B& (48,236) (14,779) =

wn

Current portion BN HA &6 > 138,790 83,028 =
=

(ww)

The financial assets included in the above balances AU LERFELERNNESREE I -
relate to receivables for which there was no recent HE A R R SR EC SR ol B < AE o E AT IR [E] i it
history of default and past due amounts. Their SREBANGERLIE MRZ2F =
recoverability was assessed with reference to the credit —HERZIEZI—HF=B=+—HWE B
status of the debtors, and the loss allowances as at BEELSTHERBEM - g
31 March 2022 and 2021 were assessed to be minimal. at
bl

I

)

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY
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MBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

TR —H#F=ZH=+—H

15. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 15. FARIE - RELHME K
OTHER RECEIVABLES (continvea #IE @)
Note: fEEE -
(i) The balance represents a loan principal of HK$8,834,000 and (i) EREEVRALNBDEETZEXREILENE
accrued interest of HK$33,000 due from Mr. Huang Yongbiao, KA 8,834,000 JT K & &t #1] £33,0007
a director of the Company. The loan bears interest at 4.35% TC o ZEFIREFFRLI % E - BREK
per annum and is repayable within 30 business days after the TR 575 A B! F A 6 [ A S B B A (R A B
receipt of the final consideration by Mr. Huang Yongbiao for BHRRMEIAMER) WRERBERIEL
the Group's acquisition of Dalian Garment as detailed in note EHNERE - RBEB(QEHERM)E383(1)
30 to the financial statements. Particulars of an amount due (FER(AB (HBESNDER) RONE
from a director disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the SEWBENER — 2 ESFIEFEBAT -
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the
Companies (Disclosure of information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
Maximum Maximum
amount amount
outstanding At 31 March outstanding
At 31 March during 2021 and during
Name 2022 the year 1 April 2021  the prior year At 1 April 2020
RZBZ—f
ZAZ+-HR
RZB-Zf ERNEREE -5--% BEEE R-S°BfE
& ZA=t+-H BE2E ME—H *HEERSLE mAE—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT FET FET THT
Mr. Huang Yongbiao BEXEEE 8,867 8,867 = = =
16. GOODWILL 16. @&

|
)
|
Al Del ginnin
I
|

2022
- k- -
HK$’000
FET

100,334

3,742

104,076




16. GOODW".L (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill

PRC CGU ONE

Goodwill of HK$26,112,000 (2021: HK$26,112,000),
arising from an acquisition during the year ended
31 March 2008, was allocated to a cash-generating unit
in Mainland China which is engaged in the manufacture
and trading of sportswear and garments (the “PRC CGU
ONE").

The PRC CGU ONE generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets.

The recoverable amount of the PRC CGU ONE has been
determined based on the value in use, which is
calculated with reference to cash flow projections based
on a five-year period financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget years and the
discount rate of 19.5% (2021: 19.6%), which is pretax
and reflects specific risks relating to the PRC CGU ONE.
The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2021: 2.5%).

The directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the PRC CGU ONE to

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2022
¥ —HF=Z/F=+—H

16. & @)

e 2 i 1B R K

e 2 EL B —5
REBEEZ_SF/N\E=-B=+—HLEE
& 17 IR B8 P E & 19 226,112,000 7T
(ZEZ—4F :26,112,00087T) #&EES
BAEREEHREIIREERES
ZHREELEN(TRESESEM—
881 e

FERESEABEM—FKEENRERA
KELBINRNKBEMEENRESRMA °

FREAREELEBEMN—FZ KO EEET
RIBEREEESE  mMEDBEENRES
EREEEEN A FHMKRIBEENE
HZzRERENE  WHBEZHEIR
MRERKEBFFERERTERZE - 181
REMEZETERBRAMBEZEFE
(R EEEFEMZEEMERZ Y
EMR)RIFTREI96% (ZFZ —F
19.6% ) (T3 BRI AT R RBLEE R IR & E 4
BU—SEERZEERR) - AFHMNE
MRS REFR2% (ZFEZ—4F :125%)
ZERERE - EEMEE AAXEFRR
TREAIEM IR 2 #8) AL ERHE
RBeELBEN— Rz EREERBEED
WKEl&%E - HRPEESEEEN—KZ
AREEESNRERAE  EFRA/NEK
EHRBEY EHIEBRE -

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3
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Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) BERENSE
Vietnam CGU BEREELEN

Goodwill of HK$36,075,000 (2021: HK$36,075,000),
arising from an acquisition during the year ended
31 March 2019, was allocated to a cash-generating unit
in Vietnam which is engaged in the manufacture of
sportswear (the “Vietnam CGU").

The Vietnam CGU generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets.

The recoverable amount of the Vietnam CGU has been
determined based on the value in use, which is
calculated with reference to cash flow projections based
on a five-year period financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin
achieved in the year immediately before the budget
years and the discount rate of 19.3% (2021: 18.2%),
which is pretax and reflects specific risks relating to the
Vietnam CGU. The cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2021:
2.5%). The directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the Vietnam CGU to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since the
recoverable amount of the Vietnam CGU is hi

her than
L

RBEE_T-NE=B=+—HLEE
¥ 1T IR B8 P EE 4 B9 7§ 236,075,000 TT
(Z|B = —4 :36,075,000% 7T ) # 53 fE #l
BAHEESRENEZHEELEMN ([#
BMIESELBNM] -

HEREELABENELENREERAAKRE
EBUIRKEHEMEENEREZRA -

HEReELBEMNZATKROSENRE
FHREEEE MEAEBEENREBEHRSHK
EEEENM ANV RBEERENZ
ReERests VHREEZHEENRKRE
BrkeFFEFERBEAERZEE -BARS
MEZEIEBRAMBEEZEMNR(ANER
EBEEFENZEEMERZ FHEAN
K) R |/ R193%(Z /B — — &
18.2% ) (Th BRI B & R BRERHA IR S EE 4
BUBHAZEERR) - AFHNENE
EMEBEA2% (T2 —F 125% )2
REHE - BEERE  EAZFRRAEE
AEMMBIE &8 SATERUERS
EEBEMZEARMERBLENKO®E -
HRUEEReEEEU2IKREE$ES
REREE EFRARBEHRTEL
EHIBRE -



16. GOODW".L (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

PRC CGU TWO

Goodwill of HK$38,147,000 (2021: HK$38,147,000),
arising from an acquisition during the year ended
31 March 2019, was allocated to a cash-generating unit
in Mainland China which is engaged in the manufacture
and trading of sportswear (the “PRC CGU TWOQO").

The PRC CGU TWO generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets.

The recoverable amount of the PRC CGU TWO has been
determined based on the value in use, which is
calculated with reference to cash flow projections based
on a five-year period financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget years and the
discount rate of 19.6% (2021: 19.8%), which is pretax
and reflects specific risks relating to the PRC CGU TWO.
The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2021: 2.5%).
The directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the PRC CGU TWO to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since the

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
CEEELENE )

31 March 2022

T —H#F=ZH=+—H

16. & @)

RERENR @

HE R EELE %

RBEE_E—-—NE=B=+—HILEE
& 17 IR B8 P E & 19 7 238,147,000 7T
(ZE|B=—4 :38,147,000 70) #5EE
BEAEREESRELEREEZRS
ELXBuU((hHBEELESEM_%]) -

TEHESESBEN_RELENREESRA
RELBINKEEMEENRERA

FEBREEAEMN_RAKEESET
RBEREEETE  mEMBEENRES
EREEEEN A FHUKRIBEENE
BAZEERENE - MERBEZHRENR
MRERKEBFFERERTERZE - 181
HERNEZETEZRBREAMBEZEFE
(R EEEFEMZFEEMERZ T
EMER)RITBEEXRIQ6N (ZEZ—F
19.8% ) (TWERMAT R RMEFFRRESESE
BUZRERZEEEAR) - AFHUE
MBS REMBH2% (ZFEZ—4F :125%)
2 REREE - EFEHE  TAZEEE
ARESEMBRZ 28  BATERHE
REELEN B2 EEREEBLEET
WEl&%E - HRPEESEEEN K2
ARE&ESRERAE ESRANK
HHARAEY & B RRE -
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Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) BERENSE
Indonesia CGU HERELELEW

Goodwill of HK$3,742,000 (2021: Nil), arising from an
acquisition during the year ended 31 March 2022, was
allocated to a cash-generating unit in Indonesia which is
engaged in the manufacture and trading of sportswear
and garments (the “Indonesia CGU").

The Indonesia CGU generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets.

The recoverable amount of the Indonesia CGU has been
determined based on the value in use, which is
calculated with reference to cash flow projections based
on a five-year period financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual performance and development
expectations. The key assumptions for the cash flow
projections are the budgeted gross profit margin which is
based on actual sales orders received and estimated
cost to complete these sales orders and the discount
rate of 18.7%, which is pretax and reflects specific risks
relating to the Indonesia CGU. The cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate
of 2%. The directors believe that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not
cause the aggregate carrying amount of the Indonesia
CGU to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since
the recoverable amount of the Indonesia CGU is higher

RBE_ZF__=B=+—HLEE
& 1T IR BB BT EE A P 283,742,008 T (=
FT—F HERBRENEREEFGRE
ERREEREG ZIREEEENM([ED
EBRE&SELEENM]) -

HEREELABEUEENEREERAKRE
EBUIRKEEMEENEREZRA -

MEREELEMZJKREIZRIRE
EREEEE  MERABEERRBRSR
EEEEM 2 AFRMBREEMENZ
BEREFE MBEEEZEENDRRE
BRELBHERE BRAREREZETE
BRAMEEZEBNX (MERAEEN
BEREEITER TR FHETENMG
STEAETEREH) RIFREK18.7% (T35
BIRRREENEREELEBVEHE S
TR - AFHNRNIREREFER2%
ZIBREEE - EFHE EAXERR
AREGEMHFE 2 #8  SAITERENE
BeEABMZBREESDHA T IKE
TR -BARNERESELEMZAKEE
BEREREAE EERARNBSHRE
EiEHBREIE -



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

T —H#F=ZH=+—H

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 7. BB E

Customer
Backlog relationship Total
RAEREE EFRRE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 ™
FHET FHET FHET ?.5
31 March 2022 —®--#=A=+—H =
Cost at 1 April 2021, net of RZEZ—FMA—HM E
accumulated amortisation BA - BR R 5T - 10,579 10,579 é
Amortisation provided during 4 P9 6 85 #8585 (FY5E7) %
the year (note 7) - (2,821) (2,821) =
=
At 31 March 2022 g - = Z
=A=+—H - 7,758 7,758 3
o
At 31 March 2022: RZBZ_F é
=A=+—H : =
Cost B A 2,838 16,926 19,764 =
Accumulated amortisation B EtiE (2,838) (9,168) (12,006) “
N ™
Net carrying amount BRI SHE - 7,758 7,758 S
31 March 2021 —E-—F=A=+—H =
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of RZE_FHFMB—HK w5
accumulated amortisation  BRAS - 3Bk B 5T = 13,400 13,400 ]
Amortisation provided during 4 P9 6 84 #5585 (FY3E7) %
the year (note 7) = (2,821) (2,821) I
Iy
At 31 March 2021 RIE_—%F
=A=+—H = 10,579 10,579
At 31 March 2021 )3" T —

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
MBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

TR —H#F=ZH=+—H

18. INVENTORIES 18. &

2022 2021
k- e - %
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT THET

m

>

E Raw materials AR 341,165 290,950

Z Work in progress EH & 191,766 153,648

m Finished goods SR B 196,031 128,115

=

o 728,962 572,713

=

5

=

>

= 19. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 19. & W AR R

o

S

5 2022 2021

= —E-—fF o

=i HK$'000 HK$'000

O — —

- TET TET

M Accounts receivable & IS BR =X 393,843 348,046

=

o The Group’s accounts receivable mainly relate to a few RNREBEZEKWERFTEHEE TR LE

& recognised and creditworthy customers. The credit EBRIFNEFER - EEH—MKA0KRE

% period is generally for a period of 30 to 90 days (2021: QOKR(ZEZ—%F :30KEIOK) - AEHE

> 30 to 90 days). The Group seeks to maintain strict BOEREERVRERRRRERE &

o control over its outstanding receivables to minimise the FEEREIEHERKKFE - BEIRMN 24
credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by BRHEHALEEEE CHER AEEIER
the management of the Group. The Group does not hold MEEBRESREREEEMRERIE
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its fmaEEEE - EWERA LSRN °

accounts receivable balances. The accounts receivable RBEEHR  AEBRARTE E£AX

{
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
Ry i

19. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 19. BIRER R @)
An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the RBEESPERZERRERRBZEZAEHN
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is R OITAT -
as follows:
2022 2021 m
—E-C-%f —E-—% 8
HK$'000 HK$'000 ;
TET FET E
Within 30 days 30K AN 312,515 252,399 E
31 to 60 days 31E60XK 53,137 61,832 %
61 to 90 days 61F90K 9,907 28,514 §
Over 90 days 90K U k£ 18,284 5,301 =
393,843 348,046 é
5
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting REBRSHBEYERBEEERETRE cé
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit 2T UFTEEREEHE - BEXRE =
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due EHEBEREANSER#EZaHRE °
for groupings of various customer segments with similar T8 o ZFTE RIRSATIMELS R KRR ﬁ
loss patterns. The calculation reflects the SHESNERAESE Bk 8
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and RRGEEFGTAINEGERAIEER © H o
supportable information that is available at the reporting R JFE UK BR TR 45 B B 3 2 i 4 /7 TR AC R Y 57
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts EEHEBEERBAGLRERAHE  HEE ﬁ
of future economic conditions. No impairment allowance EBRAEHREEHBERBRM  FHRZ =
has been provided as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 as the F__ERZB_—F=A=+—Hu E
management considers that the expected credit losses MoTIRRERE -

are not significant given the receivable balances are
related to customers for whom there is no recent history
of default and the majority of the balances are not yet

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

HERXWE(E)
Y =i B

20. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE AND  20. Z[RFIRITEKR KRR &KX IR
CASH AND BANK BALANCES T4 ER

2022 2021
—EB-_F BT —fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Cash and bank balances e R IBTHEER 425,999 382,634
Non-pledged time deposits with REERRIHERBRE=
original maturity of less than three A B MERFETEHER
months when acquired 30,459 60,354
Less: Restricted bank balance for BWORPBEREEOHREN
import purchases in Mainland 2 PR &l $R 17 45 B
China (617) (593)
Total cash and bank balances RERIBTHEGER 455,841 442,395
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank RBEHR AEEUARE(TARE])
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi sHER IR £ K& iR 17 4% 88 23401,653,0007%
("RMB") amounted to HK$401,653,000 (2021: T (Z T = — 4 :408,934,000 T) ° A
HK$408,934,000). RMB is not freely convertible into REMASEHRRRAEME - AMIRE
other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s PR B K B O A0 B B ERAR 1 A B 45 BB - S BB
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration EGEEERE  AEEEHEEBER
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange BB IIEEBR ZRTHEARERIRA
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB HEEH-

for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on FERIBTHNHESEREERTERIEZ
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are ETHEEBINFE AEEHRAKES
made for seven days depending on the immediate cash SEEHERNEHERER - LD AlZ




21.

22.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
Ry i

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 21. FEfTERFK
An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end RBEPERZEMRRARBZEZAEHN
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as R OITAT -
follows:
2022 2021
—E-—f -
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FET
Within 90 days 90K KN 282,095 255,261
91 to 180 days 91E 180K 9,057 10,615
181 to 365 days 181E365K 1,417 1,493
Over 365 days 365K U 7,065 6,285
299,634 273,654
The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are BNERARERR EEH KA
normally settled on 45-day terms. 45K °
BANKING FACILITIES 22. RITERHEE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's banking facilities were
supported by the corporate guarantees of
HK$989,980,000 (2021: HK$975,920,000) executed by the
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 March 2022, an aggregate amount of the
Group's banking facilities of HK$648,557,000 (31 March
2021: HK$428,438,000) was utilised.

RIBIZTE=F=+—H A&EBMNIR
THEREEUARRARANA R THB
N F #2553 192N Al #E17989,980,0005 7T (=
T —4 :975,920,000% 75) 1 ¥ -

RIBEBZ—H#=H=+—H  XEBEMIE
THEBEEE 8 & #£648,557,00058 T
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2022
¥ HF=Z/F=+—H

23. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER
PAYABLES

23. EEtE R R HEthfE 4 FIA

2022 2021

k- oo B —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Other payables HAith FE (T RIE 83,498 47,695
Consideration payable (note 34(b)(iv)) F&1T & (FF&E34(b)(iv) ) 73,958 —
Accruals fEst &M 134,824 122,428
292,280 170,123

Included in other payables were contract liabilities of
HK$2,300,000 as at 31 March 2022, HK$2,420,000 as at
31 March 2021 and nil as at 1 April 2020.

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to deliver sportswear and garments. The decrease (2021:
increase) in contract liabilities in 2022 was mainly due to
the decrease (2021: increase) in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to the sales of
sportswear and garments at the end of the year.

EHNEEFANEMECREFIINRZSE
—_H=HZ=+—H%22300,000%&TT *
RIZBZ—F=F=+—H%2420,000
BTER-E-_ZFHE—HAE-

BHNEBEEEARNESRERBKRM
WEKERAMNRK - RZFZZFHNEH
BERN(ZBZ—F M) TEHRE
AMEBRERBEKREEDETF KRN
BHEMTRRD(ZFZ—F M
B o




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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2022 2021
ZE- 4 mdmbd
GIEOIM  HK$'000

Maturity FH#A THET FTET

24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK . ETERITER
BORROWINGS
Effective
interest rate =L ES
Current BN &R

0.87% to 1.36% 0.87%%1.36%
(2021: 0.85% (ZFZ—%F

Bank loans RITER

to 1.01%) 0.85%%1.01% )

On demand FEEX 648,557 428,438

As at 31 March 2022, bank borrowings of
HK$648,557,000 (2021: HK$428,438,000) were supported
by corporate guarantees executed by the Company and
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 March 2022, bank borrowings of
HK$626,557,000 (2021: HK$428,438,000) were
denominated in US$.

Based on the maturity terms of the bank borrowings, the
amounts repayable in respect of the bank borrowings are
analysed as follows:

RIBZZF=F=+—H ' 648,557,000
BT (2B —4 428,438,000 7T) KSR
TRERANIRARNTETHBAR
M ABERIEXSR -

R-ZB-_—_#=ZR=+—8" ﬁE TEES
626,557,000 JT(Z= T Z — £ :
428,438,000 7T) AE TTEHE »

RIBRITERZERY - |RITEREEE
EEINAOT

Analysed into: A=
Within one year and on demand —FAREER

2022 2021
- S - B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
648,557 428,438

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3
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25. PENSION SCHEME OBLIGATION 25. ;BIRE 58I %&IE
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The Group provides benefits for the employees of EN
Indonesia (a subsidiary in Indonesia) who attain the
retirement age of 57 years (2021: 57 years) based on the
provisions of the Indonesian Job Creation Act Number
11/2020, Indonesian Government Regulations Number
35/2021 and Collective Labour Agreement 2019-2021;
and provides benefits for the employees of PGG (a
subsidiary in Indonesia) who attain the retirement age of
b8 years based on the provisions of the Indonesian Job
Creation Act Number 11/2020, Indonesian Government
Regulations Number 35/2021 and Collective Labour
Agreement 2021-2023, through unfunded pension plans.

The plans are exposed to salary increase risk, interest
rate risk and the risk of changes in life expectancy.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value
of the defined benefit obligations were carried out at
31 March 2022 by Kantor Konsultan Aktuaria Yusi Dan
Rekan, an independent actuary with a licence from the
Indonesia Ministry of Finance, using the projected unit
credit method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

AEEEREEITEARGEEREE S
TRELREIEZEFE11/202058 - ENE BUFEAI
5535/2021 38 R ERE S5 EN B R 2019-2021 -
HEXMNE(—HEEHENEBAR)ZEESL7
m(ZEZ—F 57) BRERNIESIE
HEF RERHBAERELSEERSE
11/202035% - E & BUAT 15 1 55 35/2021 5% &
SR EISE2021-2023 © APGG (—REN
EMBAR) ZZI 58BN ERIEES IR
BF -

ZEEIERHE AR - FXERR
Rt SmEEHER -

EHEEBHNEARAEZRABEGERD
fE B B &8 3R W | 3L 15 & EE BKantor
Konsultan Aktuaria Yusi Dan Rekan$ZFH
EAENEEBEMEERIZS I
ZB=+—HEE-

REBEMRARABZEEZERERRAT -

EN Indonesia EEENfE
Discount rate (%) IR (%)




25. PENSION SCHEME OBLIGATION

(continued)

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

T —H#F=ZH=+—H

25. Bk £ EI&IE

R|BEBRR  EXRRZTEEBRED T

assumptions as at the end of the reporting period is FRWT -
shown below:
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
net defined net defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligation in rate obligation
EEENEE EEENEE
REEm R{EEMN
L= EFH GR ) LT B G )
HK$'000 % HK$'000
TET FET
2022 - = Sl - 3
Discount rate IR=E (3.226) 1 4,023
Future salary increase R #1210 4,087 1 (3,323)
2021 —E-—4F
Discount rate IR=E (3,624) 1 4,561
Future salary increase k2R 7 & 10 4,562 1 (3,686)

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3
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MEERRE(R)

31 March 2022
¥ HF=Z/F=+—H

25. PENSION SCHEME OBLIGATION 25. BIAETEIAIE »
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(continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on a method that extrapolates the impact on net
defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable
changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the
reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a
change in a significant assumption, keeping all other
assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis may not
be representative of an actual change in the defined
benefit obligation as it is unlikely that changes in
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated
income statement in respect of the plans are as follows:

EFRBRESTHREEEZHEHRER
BEMRBREZAESHHERENE
EREZREZTAMET - MRE DT
TEREMBHEMBRRAZHNELTH
—EEARROLEMET - BURED T
RORTERBHIEETNERNE B
ERRONBBEETGEBRE -

-l

MZAENGEERERERZHAIBE
g0

2022 2021

ot~ Sl - 3 s —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FETT THBT

Current service cost BERBERA 4,656 4,530

Past service cost* 18 25 AR 75 B A * - (4,982)

Interest cost BB A 1,710 1,617

Net benefit expenses =X FEE 6,366 1,165

Recognised in cost of sales RIS E R ARER 5,330 964
Recognised in administrative RATE X R

expenses 1,036 201

6,366 1,165




25. PENSION SCHEME OBLIGATION

(continued)

The movements in the present value of the defined
benefit obligation are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
Ry i

25. Bk £ EI&IE

EEENEEREZZBHAT

2022 2021

—E-—fF -5

HK$’000 HK$'000

T#&T TFET

At beginning of reporting period e =R 20,947 16,868

Current service cost RERBER A 4,656 4,530

Past service cost* 18 A R B B A* - (4,982)

Interest cost FME A 1,710 1,617

Actuarial losses/(gains) BEEE(KE) (7,788) 1,184

Benefits paid E @7l (104) (312)

Exchange differences BE X E %8 440 2,042

At end of reporting period RBEHR 19,861 20,947
2 The followings changes were made to the plan provisions * BE_ZS_—F=A=+—H BIREHN

based on Indonesian Job Creation Act Number 11/2020
Chapter IV and Indonesian Government Regulations Number
35/2021 as of 31 March 2021:

(a)

(b)

the eligibility of the plan provision would include
contract employees with more than 12 months
duration of contract;

the compensation pay required under Indonesian Labour
Law Number 13/2003 in retirement, voluntary
resignation, death, and disability benefits was

BRERERAIERE11/202058 FNE R
EN 8 B AT 1% 51 55.35/20211 5% 5 &1 8 4% SR 4E X
TEX :

(a) FEGRNERSEESEBRE
BI2ERANERES

(b) AEIFEENES TiA513/20035% R E
B BFERR TRREREZ
B R

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
MBEHRRME(E)

31 March 2022

- —HF=ZH=+—H

25. PENSION SCHEME OBLIGATION 25. BIAETEIAIE »

(continued)
The movements in the defined benefit obligation are as EERISEZEEUT
follows
= 2022 —E-=
@
m
= Pension cost charged to the income statement Remeasurement losses/(gains) in other comprehensive income
] RE#RNBZERERE HthemKH 2 EHHEHRE/ (KE)
g Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial
% changes changes changes Sub-total
§| Sub-total arising from  arising from arising from included  Exchange
o included in changes in changes in  changes in in other differences
)Z> 1 April Service Net the income Benefits  demographic financial experience comprehensive on foreign 31 March
g 2021 cost interest  statement paid  assumptions  assumptions adjustments income plans
e oL 4
g 8% FARER AOBREHE MBEREHE BHELZR HARB2ER SHHEN
I mA-B EBHE SR 2Vt EfiEF 4£ZEREH LIREED L) wzhit EREE
= HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
g TET TET TET TET TET TERT TER TER TET TET TET
< Defined benefit obligation ~ EEBRIEE 20,947 4,656 1,710 6,366 (104) - (6,188) (1,600) (7,788) 440 19,861
m
t
= 2021 —B-—f
B
% Pension cost charged to the income statement R losses/(gains) in other compreh income
il REZRNBZEAEHE At eERE2 BN EER/ (W)
ﬁi Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial
EIT changes changes changes Sub-total
Sub-total arising from ~ arising from ~ arising from included  Exchange
included in changes in changes in  changes in in other differences
1 April Service Net  the income demographic financial  experience  comprehensive on a foreign 31 March
2020 cost interest  statement Benefits paid ~ assumptions  assumptions  adjustments income plan 2021
fdoh0 “8C-%
k- -3 FABER ADBREBE MHERREBE BELZE HAAEB2EK RAHEN =R
mA-B  RBHEX SR Zhit  ERER £2EESY LrREES Ly @zt  ERZE  Zt+-A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
Ry i

25. PENSION SCHEME OBLIGATION 25. BIRE st B &IE o
(continued)
The major categories of the fair value of the total plan FEEEREZAFEZEEZENAT ¢

assets are as follows:

2022 2021 m

—E-C s '25

HK$°000 HK$'000 ;

FET FHET <]

Equity instruments BATE N/A FER* N/A =38 F * =

Debt instruments BEBEIE N/A RER* N/A 738 F * %

Property LYES N/A 3B * N/A 738 F * §

=

g The Group provides defined benefits to its eligible employees o AEEBEEERERFEAENEEE ,‘;:_ED

in Indonesia through unfunded pension plans. RIEESREBEEERET - %

[=p)

wn

Expected contributions to be made in the future years ARRBEZERBANEEHEHERBR =

out of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: W @

m

2022 2021 piis

HK$'000 HK$'000 E

FHT FHT g

Within the next 12 months K 3R1218 B M 218 202 »

Between 1 and 2 years 1E24F 653 200 >

i)

Between 2 and 5 years 2E 55 1,352 1,010 o
Between 5 and 10 years 5ZF 105 7,210 4,875
Over 10 years 10 £ 731,915 802,195
Total expected payments TEEA T R AR5 741,348 808,482
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MERRME(E)

31 March 2022
¥ HF=Z/F=+—H

26. DEFERRED TAX 26. IEIEFRIE
The movement in deferred tax liabilities of the Group AEEBRENWELERBEEESHMOT -

during the year is as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities B ERIE &
=
g Losses
i Withholding  available for
ﬁ taxes on offsetting
= Accelerated undistributed against future
I_En tax Asset profits of PRC taxable
g depreciation revaluation Others  subsidiaries profits Total
= TERBEAR  AARKE
S RAEEFZ BEEER
= MERERE BEEM Hitr BiR  RNZER s
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
5 FTET TET TERT TET TERT TET
é At 1 April 2020 RZF-ZFEMAE—H 495 27,283 2,470 8,932 = 39,180
— Deferred tax charged/(credited) to ENEGARERNR/
% the consolidated income statement (3 A\) B IE
jay during the year (note 10) (H&£10) 393 (1,432) (708) 3,858 — 2,111
Withholding tax on repatriation of I I 2 ) B L B Y
w earnings from subsidiaries in the PRC 8307 = = = (4,937) = (4,937)
,)Hik Exchange realignment ERHAE = 2,202 = = — 2,202
% At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZIZZ—H=A=1+—H
ot k=—B--#MA—H 888 28,053 1,762 7,853 - 38,556
% Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the FNELABKERIR/
t consolidated income statement during (5t A\) BB ER B
= the year (note 10) (H&E10) 3,676 (1,517) (708) 1,000 - 2,451
I Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) Wt &8 — &l it B A &) (B 5£29) - 7,966 - - (6,033) 1,933
el Withholding tax on repatriation of R Ef B 2 B B A B
earnings from subsidiaries in the PRC ~ FE{# - - - (827) - (827)
Exchange realignment ERAE - 1,178 - - 33 1,211

35,680 8,026 (6,000) 43,324

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continuea)

Pursuant to the PRC Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings accrued after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10% (2021: 5% or
10%). In estimating the withholding taxes on dividends
expected to be distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008, the directors have made
an assessment based on the factors which included the
dividend policy and the level of capital and working
capital required for the Group's operations in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with the investments in
subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$294,255,000 (2021: HK$165,702,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has estimated tax
losses arising in Mainland China of HK$3,872,000 (2021:
HK$3,719,000) that will expire in five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised during the year in respect of losses
of HK$3,872,000 (2021: HK$3,719,000) as the directors
consider that it is uncertain whether sufficient taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can

ISR

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
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26. IEIERIE &

RIBPERE - RAPBIAKREERIL Z N
BREOIFREEERZKRERHEUK
10%7ENK - ZRENRZFFT/NEF—F—
HE®  WERAR-ZEFBtE+_A=+
—BEEEZRBA - HHEKEEIMNTER
EEZ BRI IREERL - AR BRE
HERBIORKRE AEEZBEARES
5%8H10% (ZBZ—4% : 5%H10%) -
EEFZETEAAERIMBARR S
TIN\E—F—HEBREENETERIRZEK
BEFAMNTEINRE  EECTHEER
ERRAEATRRRAEFBLEEMFTEAR
EEBEESKFERE - RERIRELERIE
EENTERERBASZZENE R
ERRMETA ST A49294,255,0008 7 (ZF
——% : 165,702,0007T) ©

RIBZZH#=HB=+—H  AEBE G
FA R B KBS E A 2 MBS 18 43,872,000
BIT(ZFZ —4F :3,719,0008 7T) © #§
RAFNEY BERKEREERREG
fll  AREERAITEES EHNERR
ARSI AN RIEEE  FTUZEN
i 4% §£3,872,0005 T (Z /B = — £
3,719,000 7t) NS B R EERIEE
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
MBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

TR —H#F=ZH=+—H

27. ISSUED CAPITAL 27. ERTHERX
2022 2021
k- St B4
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET TFHET
Authorised: EEBRAE
10,000,000,000 (2021: 10,000,000,0008%
10,000,000,000) ordinary shares (ZB-_—%&
of HK$0.01 each 10,000,000,0008%)
FREECIBITZ
L m 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EZTERHBRE :
533,800,000 (2021: 532,000,000) 533,800,000/%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (ZB = —&F
532,000,0008%) F % EE
0.01B Tz EER 5,338 5,320
A summary of movements in the Company's issued ANFBETERANES AN T -
capital is as follows:
Number of
ordinary
shares in Share
issue Issued capital premium Total
BRETLER
$E BETEF BiniE Rt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FHET

= —PWH-—H 532000000

579,248



28.

29.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’'s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the financial statements.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value
of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the
Company pursuant to a group reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”) in August 2003, and the nominal value
of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange
therefor and the existing 1,000,000 shares of HK$0.01
each credited as fully paid, at par.

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations,
subsidiaries registered in the PRC are required to
transfer a certain portion of their profits after tax, as
determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve, until the balance of the
reserve reaches 50% of their respective registered
capital. Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, the statutory surplus reserve
may be used to offset against accumulated losses.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 6 December 2021, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in PGG from independent third parties for an
aggregate consideration of HK$9,481,000. PGG is
engaged in the manufacture and trading of sportswear

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
Ry i

28. f# &

29.

AEERAFERBEEFEZ#BER
REBBFBERMBRRPZGEGED
BERET -

AEFEABEEALIRBEIEE=
FI\Bz&EBEEHE((EZ4H)) FREHRBA
EINBRAEERZRE  ERET2EARNE
BAEERIFEA1,000,0000% & R EE0.01
BITEREENRINEHERNEZELE -

REBERTERS - EHEEMBMNEL
AARETHINRREREN (RTEE
RARPIEE) BREAERGERE EE
ZRENEREIESBEMELRL0% -
ERRTRRGIFAEETRURRT @&
EERBHEEBITRFRERBERE -

EBGH
REB-Z—5+ZAAR  AEEHBI
%= 7 W IBPGGHI100% I 1 - MR E A
9,481,000% JT ° PGG =5 & & AR 25 K B
REERES  ARWE S EEAAEE
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEHRMNE(R)
Ll .

29. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continved) 29. ¥BEH=
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of PGGRINBHEMI RN EEREEN
PGG as at the date of acquisition were as follows: NEFEWOT -
Fair value
recognised on
m acquisition
e R EBRERN
= AFAE
= Notes HK$'000
= B 5% FET
g Property, plant and equipment M BEREE 13 25,990
= Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 36,158
S Inventories T7E 368
E Accounts receivable & WK BR R 762
z Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEffFIE & K&
=) H {th FE W F A 4,154
5 Cash and bank balances HE&ERIBITER 22,358
= Accounts payable F& - BR 3R (3,134)
= Accrued liabilities and other payables* FEst B E Rk E A E T RIE* (46,328)
5 Interest-bearing bank borrowings STEIRBITER (19,761)
- Interest-bearing borrowings from the then PGGE Fs i B Bt 75 19
o related parties of PGG FFREXR (12,567)
Tax payable EARIE (328)
B Deferred tax liabilities BEREEE 26 (1,933)
[ Total identifiable net assets at fair value BN F(ET R AT 3% 5l
% BEERE 5,739
% Goodwill on acquisition RIKERNEE 16 3,742
S 9,481
]
Satisfied by: HIXTEA -
Initial cash consideration NBREENRE 11,775
Less: Adjustment from final payment B R RERE (2,294)
Net consideration REFE 9,481

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continuea)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of PGG is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
Ry i

29. ¥ 8=
BEKEPGCHESRBARMT :

HK$'000
THET
Net cash consideration paid EMRESERERE (9,481)
Cash consideration receivable arising from adjustment BA&NMHABRELEZ
of final payment EWIR &R E (2,294)
Cash and bank balances acquired B8 2 3R & & R 1T 45 8 22,358
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in FARBEEREFZBZHEERE
cash flows from investing activities Z2HRERESEBEEERA
R 10,583
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash FFARBREETH ZHERE
flows from operating activities ZWBEBR G B A (1,117)
9,466

Since the acquisition, PGG contributed HK$6,504,000 to
the Group’s revenue and HK$640,000 to the consolidated
profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the consolidated profit
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 would
have been HK$3,766,066,000 and HK$275,648,000,
respectively.

BIKEMUE  PGCAAEEHE_E -
FZA=+—HIEEENEXKRATR
6,504,000 7T ' AAEENGEEEFE
8,640,000 7T °

HEHRENET  AEEBE_S "
F=ZA=+—HILEFENEZKAKLE
& i A 4 2 Bl %&3,766,066,000% T &
275,648,000 JT °
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
MBEHRRME(E)

31 March 2022

TR —H#F=ZH=+—H

30. ASSET ACQUISITION THROUGH 30. EE WIS —FE B A RETT
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY BEEWE
On 1 March 2022, the Group acquired 100% equity RIBIZE=ZF—H AEBEBAQNEF
interest in Dalian Garment from RFI:k5A & 5 F RN & EERREEKELELEHRBENEM
which was wholly-owned by Mr. Huang Yongbiao, a X5hE 5B R =) W B E B R 100% B
director and a shareholder of the Company, at a final - RHENRER A RIHES,877,0007T (18
consideration of RMB59,877,000 (equivalent to E 174,151,000 T0) °

HK$74,151,000).

Management accounted for the transaction as an EEESZRGREERBBENKEA
acquisition of assets and liabilities. The cost of BR - WA RBIIBABRKETERE
acquisition is allocated to individual identifiable assets HHOEHBAAFEITRERENRIE T #
and liabilities of the acquired company on the basis of MEERAGRE #BAROT :

their relative fair values at the completion date of the
acquisition as summarised below:

m
>
(2]
[
m
=
(=]
m
=
=
m
pus}
=
=
o
=
>
=
T
(=)
—_
=
=
)
w
L
=
=
m
o
e
e
B
o
3
at
b
>
o

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

U B R RE R Y

ATEE

Notes HK$'000

B 5 FET

Property, plant and equipment L ER S 13 51,614

Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 11,641

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables* FEfIFIE « && K

H th FE I FRIE * 9,967

Cash and bank balances HERIBITER 1,088

Tax payable FEfT7R1E (159)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value -/ NSRRI S 4|
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

T —H#F=ZH=+—H

30. ASSET ACQUISITION THROUGH 30. ZBWE—RMEBAEET
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY BEEWE @
(continued)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the FREKENREEREFTAOT -

acquisition is as follows:

HK$'000 8
FHBT E
Cash consideration HEE (74,151) E
Cash consideration payable recorded in accrued FFANEaEREMEMNRE =
liabilities and other payables HEM R &R E 74,151 %
Cash and bank balances acquired FTi g 2 IR & R IR1T B8R 1,088 §
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in FARERETBZREAE %
cash flows from investing activities Z2HREeERBEEEEEERA e
bR 1,088 ‘_,2,
=
31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. ZFREERERME S
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ﬁ
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EEERERS ‘%
(i)  During the vyear, non-current deposits of (i) F W IEREZE14,779,000 %
HK$14,779,000 (2021: HK$13,768,000) were BT (ZFZ—F :13,768,000 =
transferred to property, plant and equipment. BIL)EEEEYE BKEK %
R f - [
Iy

(i)  During the year, the Group had non-cash (il FR FEER—EREEE

additions to right-of-use assets and lease ZHARERESREFERES

liabilities of HK$21 114,000 (2021: E&fHEﬁFﬂHZLOOO%TB

L '| ‘ i

BEEHE— & 70 1H0dIH TYNNNY
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2022
¥ HF=Z/F=+—H

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(continued)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

3. ZERERERMFE @

(b) MEEFHELNEEES

Interest-bearing

Lease bank
liabilities borrowings
HE&HE FEIRITEMR
HK$'000 HK$'000
T&ET FET
At 1 April 2020 RIFEZFFME—H 14,029 530,800
Changes from financing cash BEREMEEE
flows (7,275) (102,362)
New lease MEE 2,565 —
Interest expenses MEREX 449 —
Interest paid classified as NERREREREN
operating cash flows ERHF & (449) —
COVID-19-related rent concessions HFH AFHCOVID-1918Ed 2
from a lessor HEER (733) —
Exchange realignment bE SR B 506 —
At 31 March 2021 and RZFB-_—F=F=+—H
1 April 2021 kB —FHA—H 9,092 428,438
Changes from financing cash MEREREEE
flows (8,743) 197,050
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B — fE B S 2 =) - 19,761
New lease MEE 21,114 -
Interest expenses B X 587 —

(587)

3,308

648,557




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBERRWE(E)

31 March 2022

T —H#F=ZH=+—H

period (2021: Nil).

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. FEHERERME »
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERESHRBEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FARERERNEERERLE
statement of cash flows is as follows: BEOTF - =
=
2022 2021 %
ot et —E-—fF m
HK$°000 HK$'000 =
T T =
Within operating activities REETFEN 937 573 %
Within financing activities REEFEN 8,743 7,275 =
9,680 7,848 S
5
3
=
32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. ZREE =
The Group did not have any significant contingent RIBEIAR - AEBE M BEM S REEZ !
liabilities not provided for at the end of the reporting EAHARER(ZEZ—F #],)- b
E

As at 31 March 2022, corporate guarantees to banks to NRIB__HE=F=+—H AT KRE g

the extent of HK$989,980,000 (2021: HK$975,920,000) NEETHBA S mIR{TiE#989,980,000 ot

were given by the Company and certain subsidiaries of BT (ZEZ—4 :975,920,0007T) A Al E

the Company for banking facilities granted to the R URERFARARAABE TH a
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company, which BARINRITHEREE  EFREREHR
were utilised to the extent of approximately 2 &) F3 49648,5657,0008 T (Z B = — 4 :
HK$648,557,000 (2021: HK$428,438,000) at the end of 428,438,000/ TC) °

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MERRME(E)

31 March 2022
¥ HF=Z/F=+—H

33. COMMITMENTS 33. &I
The Group had the following capital commitments at the AEEBNRBEERZELRAENT -

end of the reporting period:

91,015 13,365

2022 2021
- —s-—#% —E-—&
8 HK$’000 HK$'000
i FTET FET
=)
m Contracted, but not provided for: EHEVEES -
= Renovation of factories and REEEMBEEE
% purchases of items of machinery EERBERRHBIER -
é' and equipment for the production
E base in:
S — Shantou — J\iEE 37,606 9,054
g — Hubei — #Ade 33,062 1,790
& — Indonesia — EE 12,720 194
= — Vietnam — ®iFE 5,137 1,295
o — Other locations — H {3 Bh 2,490 1,032
=
b
=
|
HF
=
at
w0
>
]
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MHERK ()
Ry i

34. FIEALIR B RERR

(a) BRRAMBHRERREMIDFARHR
Zo AEBRFPEREANLTE

following material transactions with related parties TTHNERRS
during the year:
2021
—E-—%
Notes HK$'000
B 5E FET
A related company indirectly —&AAE EERE
controlled by a substantial EEEEAEE)
shareholder of the FEXNA :
Company:
Rental expenses* HEmRxz* (i) 7,704 7,113
Service fee iR % & (i) 7,789 9,150
A director and shareholder of —&ZANTEEF
the Company: R
Interest income FMEWBA (iii) 32 —
Substantial shareholder of the AAB EEIRE :
Company:
Service fee R% & (iv) 640 604
Notes: MizE -

(i)

The Group entered into lease agreements with Pouyuen

Vietnam Company Limited (“Pouyuen Vietnam”), a

related company indirectly controlled by Yue Yuen

Industrial (Holdings) Limited, a substantial shareholder
o [ ] L] ]

(i) AEEEANFAETERRMBITITE
(EE)BRAE B EEHNEER
A Pouyuen Vietnam Company
Limited ([ Pouyuen Vietnam J]) £ 3z
Fs - = 5
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2022
¥ HF=Z/F=+—H

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)

(a) (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(i) (continued)

*

Right-of-use assets of HK$15,235,000 (2021:
HK$3,252,000) and lease liabilities of
HK$15,377,000 (2021: HK$3,295,000) related
to the leases with related parties were
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022. During
the year ended 31 March 2022, depreciation of
right-of-use assets of HK$7,449,000 (2021:
HK$6,737,000) and finance costs on lease
liabilities of HK$330,000 (2021: HK$149,000)
were recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

(ii) The service fee to Pouyuen Vietnam was made on a
basis mutually agreed by both parties.

(iii) The interest income was charged at 4.35% per annum
on a loan to Mr. Huang Yongbiao, a director and a
shareholder of the Company. Details of the loan and
related accrued interests are disclosed in note 15 to
the financial statements.

(iv)  The service fee paid to Pou Chen Corporation (“Pou
Chen”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, was
charged on actual cost incurred.

Certain of the related party transactions in respect

C

4. FEANETRG RERR »

(a)

(&)

MizE :(4)

(i) (&)

W HEBEALTHEGHENER
& E15,235,0008 T (==
— — £ :3,252,00038 T) &
& & {&15,377,0008 7T (=
T = — £ :3,295,000% T)
RZB-__#=B=+—H
Hine M BRI RER - &
EE-_"_F=HA=+—H
LHEEN ERAEESERE
7,449,000 T(Z & = —
£ :6,737,000i8 7T) &k H &
& BRI R E Bk 4330,000% 7T
(Z=|——4% :149,0003 7T)
RER & I R MR -

(ii) 45 FPouyuen Vietnam# IR 5 & %
EHRBEZEESI M-

(i) M—BAANBDEBRBRRAKEE
EREZERZABBRANZERNE
435% K - EFR KB EFI 2
ZHBERBERMBIRRHTE5 -

(ivy) MAXNBDEFERFBERIERHNHE
RAR(ER])XMNREERE
B EE 4E A BR S WBY -

EXXE

(WERBHBRZETHEEAL



34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Included in accrued liabilities and other
payables at 31 March 2022 is an amount due
to Pouyuen Vietnam of HK$4,121,000 (2021:
HK$4,144,000), which is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Included in accrued liabilities and other
payables at 31 March 2022 is an amount due
to Pou Chen of HK$120,000 (2021:
HK$123,000), which is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Details of the Group’s loan to a director and
related accrued interests as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 15 to
the financial statements.

Included in accrued liabilities and other
payables at 31 March 2022 is a consideration
payable of HK$73,958,000 to JEFIKAE 5HH
BB 22 & which was wholly-owned by Mr.
Huang Yongbiao, a director and a shareholder
of the Company, for the acquisition of Dalian
Garment during the year. Further details of
this acquisition are included in note 30 to the
financial statements.
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M. HAEATRERESE @

(b) EEEAEANLTZRME LR

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RIFEZZHF=H=+—8H"
[EitEEREMEMRIESRE
& 4 Pouyuen Vietnamf 5t 1E
4,121,000 T (ZFBZ—£F
4,144,000 7T) - BEER
GRERBAREREE-

RIBEZZTHFE=F=+—H
EstaBErkEMEMRESRE
JFE {+ B8 AR B9 R 1E120,0005 JT
(Z | = — £ :123,0008
) AEER RERAR

RBEEHRR  AEHE—RE
ERHZERRBEABEE
ZEB N MR R -

RIBEZ-H£=H=+—H "
EistaBEREMEMRIESRE
B F P9I RS E B AL KR
ANAEERBRERKESLE
LEBENHRFIKLAEZHR
2N E B9 X {873,958,0005% TT °
BERKBRE— L BN
IR R MEE30 ©
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3. M T AR5
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of ZRESHMIARESHARNWEREEOT -

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

m

>

= Financial assets EREE

§

i 2022 2021
5 —E-=f —S-—f
z HK$000 HK$'000
= F#5T TET
§ Financial assets at amortised cost: IR AFBRNSRMEE :

= Accounts receivable JfE IR BR X 393,843 348,046
= Financial assets included in RREATRNRIE REREH

2 prepayments, deposits and other WK 3R 1B 1Y <& Bl B

% receivables 21,741 4,990
S Restricted bank balance = PRl SR 1T 45 87 617 593
m Cash and bank balances e RIBTHEER 455,841 442,395
872,042 796,024
|

iy

gﬁ Financial liabilities Eof AR

b

>

]

2022 2021
—E-C& s
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Financial liabilities at amortised cost: IREESHAFNBEN SR EE -
Accounts payable JE {3 BR =X 299,634 273,654

128,238
Interest-bearing bank borrowing + 5 58 648,557 428,43
21,811

1,098,240

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as accounts receivable, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, a restricted bank balance, accounts payable,
financial liabilities included in accrued liabilities and other
payables and lease liabilities, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’'s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
liquidity risk and credit risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's
interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest
rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the floating
interest rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risk. The interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash
and bank balances are stated at amortised cost and not
revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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36. WEERKEEZBERBEER

FEENIEEMTEGEARRITE
ARBRERIRITHER - ZFEMTEZE
ZEHNRBEAEBEEMFRES - &%
EEREBKERR  SFABEMRE  RER
HtBRRENEMEE  RREIRITE
B BNERREE BT EEREMEN
HENEREBEULREEEESRER
thEMEEREE DTRELEREEE
A

FrEEERMIBZTERBIRBAEX
Bk - SNERRR  RBEERBRREER
B EEEERYBEEEREFRER
2B BARWT -

I 2 @ B
AEEMARZT BN ERBHEREE
EAEBRIBARFEORTERE
Eﬁ o

FEETHEELERISEBENUER
HAMZRER - st RRITERRR S RIRTT
ERIREBERANER MAGEHER -
FEABBRA R HR K SRR E B
EELFLUER 06 -
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MEBEHRMNE(R)
Ll .

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group's net profit
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

36. WEEKREEZBERBEER

(%)

PR @)

TRIITAEEGHN (AZEREERE)
HARTREHRZAEE (FMEH S
BRRTE) ZHRE -

Increase in

interest rate Decrease in

(basis points) net profit

FUSRIEhn (B ) B F R

HK$'000

FHET

2022 - =S 100 5,415

2021 —_E_—4F 100 3,577
Foreign currency risk 4h EE & b

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from a substantial portion of sales or
purchases by operating units in United States dollars
("US$") and RMB. As the foreign currency risk arising
from sales and purchases can be set off with each other
given that the Hong Kong dollars are pegged to US$, the
Group believes its exposure to exchange rate risk is
minimal. It is the policy of the Group to continue
maintaining the balance of its sales and purchases in the
same currency. However, as the functional currency of
the PRC subsidiaries is RMB and the Group’s financial
statements are reported in Hong Kong dollars, there will

AEEARRZEKRR - B ERARH
PHEEBEUMUET(ET)D RARKE
ETEEEL - HRBITEERTHE B
BELZIIERBRTUERIKE  AEH
RIS HAMNE AR - AEBISMERS
MEREKETEER 2 FEBR - A
HRPERBEARUARERINEER
RAEEZMBRRIDUBTER - A
R¥EME RESGEEFAN MREE
KEBRERFENEREE - AEEAREDE
BEEHMRPBEKE XA REE
-
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. WEERBEE ZHIERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq) (&)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SMERBE (&)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the TRINTAEE M E A REERNIE
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible SHARTREHEREz B2 (FMEEMmE
change in the RMB exchange rate, with all other BEURERFTE) 2HRE(HREBKEEK b
variables held constant, of the Group's net profit (due to BEATEEE) : f',':
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and CE,
liabilities): =
=
Increase/ Increase/ %
(decrease) in (decrease) in §
exchange rate net profit E
EXEH “EFIEH 3
("F k) GiR2) =
HK$'000 Z
FET =
=
2022 k- Sl 3 =
If HK$ strengthens against R\MIB HETEARERE 3% (805) m
If HK$ weakens against RMB WETREARERE (3%) 805 g
2021 —B”—f B
If HK$ strengthens against RMB HETEARERE 3% (206) i
If HK$ weakens against RMB HETRARBRE (3%) 206 ﬁ
S
Liquidity risk REESRR =
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using AEEFEAREERBESRE TR
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the EEERRZER ZEIEGZESMH
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial TEREMEE(NEVERER ZZHE
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and the projected cash T UREEFRZEEREREM -

BEEHE— & 70 1H0dIH TYNNNY
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. WERABEE ZBERKE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) MENE & B BE (&)

R|BERR  AEERBEORITRMAR
RAEZERMEBEIHBERAT ¢

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the

¢20¢ 140434 TVNANNY

o —

* As at 31 March 2022, included in interest-bearing bank *

borrowing nvere ban oan

M E R

= contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:
@
m
2 On demand
" or within 1t0 5
= 1 year years Total
3 EEKRRK
= —4ERN 1E54 st
g HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
= TET TET FET
= 2022 —E-C
= Accounts payable F& 1 BR =X 299,634 — 299,634
] Financial liabilities included in & A F& 51 & & K H {th F& {¢
= accrued liabilities and other RENE/MEAE
= payables 128,238 - 128,238
o Interest-bearing bank FFEBITER
bl borrowings* 648,557 - 648,557
b Lease liabilities HEAE® 10,201 12,340 22,541
1,086,630 12,340 1,098,970
o 2021 B
& Accounts payable FE < BR =X 273,654 — 273,654
ot Financial liabilities included in & N\ &5t & f& & H ft FE
E accrued liabilities and other RENES/HEAE
o payables 30,034 — 30,034
Interest-bearing bank FFEBITE R
borrowings* 428,438 — 428,438
Lease liabilities HEaRE 3,681 5,995 9,676
735,807 5,995 741,802
RIBEZZE=A=+—H8 tERBTE

AIB /LI 5 ’ X =3

I
f
{
C
I
i
/
I
|



36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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36. WEERKEEZBERBEER

(&)

EE R
AEEEERAIREERFNE=Z77E
IR5 - AEEEHEUGRERETIARZH
FMIEZRETEEEE - It BIRFE
ERTEFEHESE -

RERBERELZEER

TR ERAEENEERRNEE
BEEkRSEERR FEERAHEH
(BREAMERTEEANE RO ERK
HENNBERTERS)  ER=ZAB=+—
BREEREDT - FTEINERTERE
THMEERKR@IE-

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=@A
HHEE
iR SHEREEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
— E_REE E=PER A E HBE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET FTET FTET

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3

2022 B F
Accounts receivable* & Wt BR 3R *
Financial assets included in SAATEMRIE  ReRk
prepayments, deposits and H{th U R IE 1Y
other receivables SRMEE
— Normal** = IEET 21,741
Restricted bank balance IR # 8B 1T A B
) fi EA 617

455,841

393,843 393,843

21,741
617

- 455,841

478,199

393,843 872,042
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. WERAREEZBERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea) (%)
Credit risk (Continued) EERRE®)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERERESZER &)
(continued)
@ For accounts receivable to which the Group applies the 3 BEAEEMBERERERELAEANE
simplified approach for impairment allowance is disclosed in AR A BN M BRI 191 E -

note 19 to the financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in > BAAEMRE ReRkHEMERREZ
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to SHMEEROY BESNBEREREE
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no NEERMBNSEREHEFEERIGM -
information indicating that the financial assets had a AEGEEREHEAIER]

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Interest rate benchmark reform FIEREERE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had certain RIBZZF=B=+—H A&£B8E®&
interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated in United TUETFHEZFGFERITER - ZEFIH
States dollars. The interest rates of these instruments ZHEERBHRITRZEREFEFTE -
are based on the LIBOR with a tenor of one month, HRA—EA BRZBZ=FXA=+
which will cease to be published after 30 June 2023. HEELEAH ZETEZEEFERMG
Replacement of the benchmark rates of these HIRTEXFEANRERA BRI E
instruments from LIBOR to an RFR has yet to EARRA  EEPHESENHEBR
commence but it is expected that there will be RiEEHE  AEBEmEELT B :

renegotiations of terms in the future. During the
transition, the Group is exposed to the following risks:

m
=
D
L
m
=
)
m
=
=
m
pus)
=
=
=)
=
>
=
T
=)
—
=]
=
)
n
=
=
=
m
o
w
b
B
[
=
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bl
>
o

o Parties to the contract may not reach agreement in . BHI 77 O] e A T IR A 17 AR
a timely manner as any changes to the contractual FAAGHNGBRZEMELHETES
terms require the agreement of all parties to the WEFRER
contract
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. MBEAMEEZBERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (contined (&)
Interest rate benchmark reform (continued) FIREENE#)
The information about financial instruments based on an ERBTEEIREHEEHRBEESR
interbank offered rate that has yet to transition to an REEFEZEMITAEZENAT -
alternative benchmark rate is as follows: E
2
m
As at 31 March 2022 R-B-__F=H=+—8 S
m
Non-derivative é
financial %
liabilities — S
carrying value E
ETESRERE - 3
BREE =
HK$'000 17
F 37T =
=
Interest-bearing bank borrowings S EBITER =
— United States dollar LIBOR — EnmBERTEIZERE X 626,557 ﬁ
5
Capital management BEXERE ?;
The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital FEEMEABEZITRARRARELE %s
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to BB N ERRECE D LIRKE ot
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy RHEEFRERAE  URAHEBRMHE E
capital ratios in order to support its business and XHkRESRRER- 4
maximise shareholders’ value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes AEBRNEEERREHREREELZ
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic RBRNHHEREEARBRIFLHAZ - &
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying FEERTERRBAAES ABERE

AR EE AR - ARETE
BaLE e e

¢Z0Z 140d3d TVNNNY
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of

37. X RBEIMBIRRER

BRARERBEHRNMBRTRN

the Company at the end of the reporting period is as ERWT
follows:
2022 2021
—E-—fF -5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AB 2HE 43,368 43,368
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Due from subsidiaries & U B /B 2 B R IE 2,768,992 2,553,400
Prepayments &+ 1B 385 233
Loan to a subsidiary ERT—ERBLE - 154,875
Cash and bank balances HE& RIBITHER 586 901
Total current assets M E EEE 2,769,963 2,709,409
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Due to subsidiaries FE 1 B3 B '~ B R IB 1,702,676 1,657,883
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFEIRITER 156,600 155,400
Tax payable FE #3218 739 739
Total current liabilities nBaEEE 1,860,015 1,814,022
NET CURRENT ASSETS TMENE ER{E 909,948 895,387
Net assets BEFE 953,316 938,755
EQUITY B'BX

Issued capital ERTEREA

5,338
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 37. AT MBRAR @
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: fEE -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: ANEREEZBMENT -
Share
premium Capital Retained
account reserve profits Total
B {7

HER BEFEFHE BTFEN st
Notes ~ HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
B = THET TET TET TET

At 1 April 2020 R-ZZFZFFWMA—H 566,314 43,088 298,144 907,546
Profit and total comprehensive income £ PY3& ) & £ X &5 42 48
for the year = = 233,369 233,369
Final 2020 dividend _EFEREKRE 11 = = (47,880)  (47,880)
Interim 2021 dividend ZEZ—EFHKE 1 - —  (159,600) (159,600)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-ZB-_—F=H=+—H
EZEFE-_—%mMB—H 566,314 43,088 324,033 933,435
Issue of shares BATRRMD 27 7,596 - - 7,596

Profit and total comprehensive income  £E PO #] & £ 1H X & 42 48
for the year -

187,827 187,827

278 B2 = (5 PEl) 26 8 QILINIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 3DIN 319V3

Final 2021 dividend ZEI-FREKR 11 - —  (63,840) (63,840)
Interim 2022 dividend —ER__FHEERR 11 - —  (117,040) (117,040)
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-—#=H=+—H 573,910 43,088 330,980 947,978
The capital reserve of the Company represents the AR EXRRBEEARALBRBEAMK
excess of the then consolidated net assets of the EBHBARABRNMEEETE  BHA
subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to the LETZ AN B BRAEREZEZ5E - RIBFH
Reorganisation over the nominal value of the share SHENEE  BRARKENDRFTALQH
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor. IR EREEERRCEKREBHE &N
nae ne ompanie aw o ne ayman andad ne NEIWNEE HHEER
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38.

39.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Pursuant to the announcement of the Company on
7 April 2022, a sale and purchase agreement was
entered into among the Group, Chang Pao International
Limited (“Chang Pao”) (an independent third party), and
one of the shareholders of Chang Pao (an independent
individual) as Chang Pao's guarantor, whereby the Group
conditionally agreed to purchase 100% equity interests
of Beyond Top Co., Ltd. (“Beyond Top”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability together with its only wholly-owned subsidiary
incorporated in Vietnam, for an initial consideration of
US$6,694,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$52,213,000). The acquisition was completed on
1 May 2022. Beyond Top is an investment holding
company. Its only wholly-owned subsidiary is principally
engaged in manufacture of shoes in Vietnam and has
ceased its operation since 2009.

Due to the timing of the transaction, the Group is still
assessing the financial impact of this asset acquisition
on the Group.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors of the Company on
30 June 2022.

38.

39.

BREHERNEER

BBEAATIR_B__FMAtHNA
& KNEEHE B 5 = HChang Pao
International Limited ([ Chang Pao |) &
Chang Paolk Bz — (B @ N)E A
Chang PaolE R AGIILBEEWH#E ' HPA
SBEHREREWKEBeyond Top Co,
Ltd. ([ Beyond Top J) K9100% &1 + &2
AR RREBHEBERHESEMA LN
BRAA - EREM—REEFMRIIEN
SEWEA B - %k K18 %6,694,000%
7C (18 % 1R 4952,213,0005 7T) - IKEER =
F__HFHB—HREHR - Beyond Top=
—REELEENE - EE—NE2EREBA
AEETHERENEEXE B8
FREIEEE -

ERRZKE  AEENDEFRRREE
BERAEENMBZE -

MBRRZHIE

HEBRER-_S-__F"A=+H%E
KRB ESFEH AL RETT -
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